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Foreword

N

Bl 5§

The year under review was both challenging and fruitful for
the Consumer Council. While continuing its efforts in
advancing consumer protection and empowerment, the
Council also spearheaded an initiative to encourage good
governance among industries and strengthened its complaints

handling system.

Public expectations of corporate social responsibilities (CSR)
change with times. Consumers not only want quality and safe
products, but also their environment and community to be
free from any adverse impacts that might be brought on by
the production process. Corporations must subscribe and

adhere to CSR to inspire consumer confidence.

This was, therefore, a milestone for the Council when it
launched a Good Corporate Citizen's Guide. A representative
cross-section of 22 chambers of commerce, trade associations
and professional bodies came forward in solidarity to pledge
their support at the launching ceremony held on |5 March
2005, coinciding the World Consumer Rights Day. We were
greatly encouraged by the positive response and widespread

acceptance of this Guide.

Paradoxically, the number of consumer complaints continued
its rising trend, reaching record levels and causing
unprecedented heavy burden on our already strained
resources. To cope with this taxing demand, the Council
reviewed and improved its complaints handling procedures.

Resources were redeployed and a new hotline infrastructure
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system (IVRS system) was installed. Consumers will be
delighted to know that the waiting time for incoming calls has
since been shortened from the mean of 140 seconds in early
2003 to the mean of 80 seconds in early 2005.This initiative
enabled consumers to obtain information promptly whilst the
number of complaint cases that needed to be handled rose

sharply.

Turning to our relationship with the Mainland, where inhabit
the world's largest number of consumers (I3 billion), the
Council has long maintained close liaison with its counterparts
there. This year, we took a step further by signing
Memorandums of Understanding (MOU) for Co-operation
with the consumer organisations of Beijing, Shanghai, Fujian
province and Macau. The closer ties will benefit consumers
through improved information exchanges amongst the five
signatories and a streamlined procedure for handling consumer

complaints.

Finally, | wish to express my deepest gratitude to my fellow
Council Members for their bounteous support and salutary
guidance. My sincere thanks also go to the Council staff for
their zealous dedication and unwavering commitment in the
face of rising consumer expectations and challenges of the
marketplace. We will continue to strive for excellence in all
aspects of our work in order to fulfil the trust and confidence

vested in us.

¢ A

Andrew CHAN Chi-fai
Chairman, Consumer Council
July 2005

Consumer Council Annual Report 2004-2005 HEEZE S

AERA WK E R FIEF EFREATR

ZEHN B S R AN LA B EE S
REM HBEESHEGNBERH _ST=F910
TAOMBUEZE —FF R FAIHIBOM - BRERFUE
K E  SHEEERISEN SRR Ag 2
RRE IR BRI E RN

PEAMANEEE(1 3E) 2 HRRLE-AE
—EHEAMEEE SRS ER -AEEHM
FE—F EILR- BB REENRFIREAFS
e (EEDEHEME MR NE EREE N
BRI o

RE BROBMEEGRRBAISH R
RE2EETHAMIEEE NEIRANHMER
IS H R PER BT EE BB aNER
BRI ESRRRE R4 EHASHNEEK
XFFe

HEERESXR
—OORFtHR

ER 3



Membership of the Consumer Council
HEEREEERS

Chairperson Members

xE

_ -
Prof. KC. CHAN Mr. Frank LEE King-ting Dr. LO Chi-keung, BBS
BRERHIR FYREE ESREL RENER

Prof. Andrew CHAN Chi-fai, JP
BRAIE SR PR

Vice-Chairperson

BERE

: A EEEs e
Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Dr. Jane LEE Ching-yee Ms. Antia MA Wing-tseung
Bing-leung, BBS, JP P+ SIS AR AT
RINRHR AR

Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, |P
SPAERED AL

Prof. CHING Pak-chung Mr. Brian LI Man-bun Mrs. Josephine MAK CHEN
BAPHE TRMELE Wen-ning, BBS
ERPRRR REHEE

"

Mr. Ambrose HO, SC Mr. Brian LI Tze-leung, JP Mr. Charles Peter MOK

fAHERERKAEED FTREL KFHL RTyeEE

4 Consumer Council Annual Report 2004-2005 JHEEZZE EF R



Chief Executive

RRE

Dr. Matthew NG Dr. John WONG Yee-him Mrs. CHAN WONG Shui,

REREL ELIHELE Pamela, BBS, JP
PRETEL T

WRHI 2T TR

Deputy Chief Executive
RS

Dr. Elizabeth SHING Shiu- Ms. Marina Wong Yu-pok, JP
ching, P =B E TR AL

B/ VBB L KR

= I Ms. Connie LAU
e BBt

Mr. Peter SUN Kwok-wah Mrs. Lily YEW KUIN King-suk

HEESEE I E 20 PN

Appointed on | January 2005
—OORF—R—HEE

Mr. Leo TSANG Wing-sheung Mr. Homer YU Sau-ning Mrs. Christine FUNG TAM Pui-ling
BB REBEELE BEM¥R L
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From left to right HZEZ A Ms. Priscilla WONG Pui-sze, JP E laF K E2E0 K F4 1
MrAddy LEE Z2TB%4E
Mr. Daniel C. LAM, BBS, |P W& %4 SRR FIE T AP AL
Mrs. Sandra MAK Z£8/\ 2+
Dr. Corinna SIU Miu-chee BB &8+
Mrs. Grace CHOW AR Bt

From left to right MmAERA Principal Complaints & Advice Officer, Mr. CHAN Wing-kai R M GAAE E S 1 BRKELRE

Senior Legal Counsel, Ms. Wendy CHAN AR B #5808 E fE = 1E - BREE 2t

Principal Public Affairs Officer, Mr. Kenneth SO AFLSEIEERE & TE - BriEA SE4E

Chief Executive, Mrs. CHAN WONG Shui, Pamela, BBS, |P ##% [REEu+ AKFESE KP4 L
Deputy Chief Executive, Ms. Connie LAU Bll#2& 55 » 230 221+

Principal Research & Trade Practices Officer, Ms. Rosa WONG RiZE A& F B el E B I aaiit
Senior Administration Officer, Ms. Vennie LAl 1T N ANE SR - RBEIA L

Chief Consumer Education Officer, Mr. WONG Koon-shing SHEEH B AR EE TEELLE
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The Consumer Council

HEAREE

The Consumer Council is a statutory body established in 1974,

Pursuant to the Consumer Council Ordinance (Cap 216),

the Council's functions are to protect and promote the

interests of consumers of goods and services and purchasers,

mortgagors and lessees of immovable property by:

o

collecting, receiving and disseminating information

concerning goods and services and immovable property;

receiving and examining complaints by giving advice to
consumers of goods and services and purchases,

mortgagors and lessees of immovable property;

taking such action as it thinks justified by information in its
possession, including tendering advice to the Government

or to any public officer;

encouraging business and professional associations to
establish codes of practice to regulate the activities of their

members; and

undertaking such other functions as the Council may adopt

with the prior approval of the Chief Executive in Council.

Membership of the Council

The Chairman,Vice-Chairman and Members are all appointed

by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR for a term of service

not exceeding two years. They may be reappointed upon

expiry of their respective terms of office.
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During the year, Prof. K. C. CHAN retired from the Council
and Mrs. Christine FUNG TAM Pui-ling was appointed
Member. The Council wishes to express its heartfelt thanks
for Prof. CHAN's contributions and support to its work. A
list of the Council Members is at Appendix |.

The Council meets bi-monthly. Committees and working
groups are set up to examine specific areas of consumer
concern. The Council invites from time to time appropriate
professionals of relevant disciplines as co-opted members in
order to benefit from their expertise. In the year under review,
a new committee and an advisory group, namely the Audit
Committee and the Advisory Group on Investment Strategy,
were set up. The former functions to enhance corporate
governance of the Council and the latter advises the Council
on the investment strategy of both the Council's liquid funds
and the Consumer Legal Action Fund. A list of Committees/

Working Groups and their members is at Appendix 3.

The Council Office, headed by the Chief Executive, has an
establishment of |24 staff with about one-fifth operating from
the Council's Consumer Advice Centres in various districts
of the territory and the Consumer Council Resource Centre

in Tsimshatsui.

The Council Office now operates with six functional divisions,
namely the Administration & External Affairs Division,
Complaints and Advice Division, Consumer Education Division,
Legal Affairs Division, Public Affairs Division, Research and
Trade Practices Division. The organisation chart of the Council
Office is at Appendix 4.

The Consumer Council is an equal opportunities employer
who operates with due emphasis on sustainable development
issues in support of environmental protection. For the year
under review, the number of disabled employees represented

1.6% of the Council Office's permanent establishment.
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Finance BT

The Council derives its income mainly from government AEeREFTTREABFER MW A (4
subvention. Other sources of income (about 6%) include 6% ) BIEAR B AR T

proceeds from the sale of the Council's publications.

REENKE IR LI MRS 2 B4
RATOE_+ETA_AN+E&TT ZFFMN/
RN FERBENREMNS VM B®RKD B RW

Total recurrent and non-recurrent expenditures for the year
under review were about $64.2M and $2.4M respectively.
The Auditors' Report and financial statements for the accounts

of the Council for 2004/2005 are at Appendix 5. Ao
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Encouraging Responsible

Trade Practices

BRSNS

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Consumer confidence will be greatly enhanced with the
observance of responsible trading practices and ethical
professional conducts in the marketplace. Council staff is
always on the alert on issues which will have implications to
consumer welfare. These issues may be flagged by
Government bureaux and departments through issuance of
consultation papers on new policy, from media reports as
well as from complaints and enquiries received by the Council.
Council staff will review such issues, conduct studies and

researches where necessary and make recommendations as

to the best means by which these can be addressed.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Promoting Good Corporate Citizenship

Good Corporate Citizen’s Guide

The Council has a statutory responsibility to encourage
business and professional associations to establish appropriate
codes of practice to regulate the activities of their members.
Accordingly the Council issued a Good Corporate Citizen's
Guide ("Guide") in March 2005 that addresses corporate rights
and responsibilities. The Guide contains a set of |12 basic
principles upon which businesses are encouraged to observe,
adopt and incorporate in their own codes of practice. The
Council believes that when businesses apply high standard of

service, they ensure that not only will the business succeed in
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its endeavours, but also that the community as a whole will
benefit from the positive effect this has on maintaining
dynamism in the economy. The Guide has already gained
widespread acceptance of the business community including
a select group of 22 chambers of commerce, trade associations
and professional bodies which came forward in solidarity to
pledge their support at the launching ceremony of the Guide
on 15 March 2005. Together they represent a cross section
of trades in the provision of goods and services from basic
daily necessities in food, clothing and shelter to life
enhancement items in electronic products, jewellery and
beauty care. In general, the conduct of these businesses is
not covered by specific statutory requirements but relies largely

on voluntary self-discipline.

Full content of the Guide can be found on the Council's

website.

The growth in the beauty industry in recent years had been
brought on by the trend towards personal grooming and a
slimmer body. Consumer dissatisfaction as revealed from
press reports and from complaints to the Council in relation
to the industry remained high in recent years - 542 complaints
received by the Council in 2002, 501 in 2003 and 518 in
2004. To address this issue of consumer concern, the Council
was in dialogue with the industry and set up a special task
force in August 2004 to formulate an industry code of practice.
The special task force, with the Council as the convenor and
Il members drawn from the beauty industry - trade
associations, beauty care training centres and institutes, small/
medium and chain operators, cosmetics and apparatus
suppliers, was expected to produce a code that would serve
to ensure, amongst others, transparency in information
disclosure, communication with customers, and available
means of redress mechanism, and further, to empower the
industry and to curb unfair trade practices. Prior to the
formulation of this special task force, the Council had organised
a seminar on 4 August 2004 in which over 50 representatives

covering a wide spectrum of the operators in or associated

Consumer Council Annual Report 2004-2005 JHEZZE 2 F i

]

EEME BRYEANK- R-E=ITH EFR
BERERNERER KREMNERF -BLTX
EF—REBAZIENELBE R RBITH
B

sy

(REFEEMHETERESDFEATIER
SHETHE-

M ERFAERBANMBERRNFE AR
R AMIRRRE LA SN ERETXNF

Nme st HE BB TARE RS E{TREE I
MRIZFBRFENR BRI AR ER/ TR
Ay (RENE ) BIETEE TR NVE R A
SAREAGEAN 11 BITENHEDIIREER
XMW ZRBR PN LEHER b MR E
m M B tEEm R RS -2 TRIN BRYE R BN
SEMEFREMRIEN IR EREAEE
RALERIEB R RIS RIBBITT B AN AT ER
Fike/NARNIRT BBS0B R B XD EARZES
MELBRNEEERER HRAEN _STNF
NANBETHES JHELHTANTE:
KBRS FFe



with the industry attended and gave their endorsement and

support of the move.

Other Initiatives - Responding to Government
Consultation Papers

Volatile Organic Compounds in Consumer Products
Promoting a sustainable environment has long been one of
the Council's major work tasks. In this respect, the Council
provided its views to the Government regarding the proposed
scheme to require mandatory registration and labelling of the
contents of volatile organic compounds (VOC) in specified

products.

To ensure that the implementation process of the proposed
scheme would be viable and manageable to the economy as
a whole, the Council was of the view that the regulation of
consumer products should be prioritized according to their
respective contribution to the total VOC emissions as products
with higher VOC content would have higher potential for
achieving the objective of reducing VOC emissions in Hong

Kong.

[t would also be necessary to enhance the level of public
awareness about environmental impacts of VOCs and generate
active consumer interest in changing their purchasing

behaviour.

Quality of Services in Telecommunications Services

The Council supports the Office of the Telecommunications
Authority (OFTA) taking steps in addressing quality of
performance issues in the telecommunications market, and
works with the Government on how to improve the quality
of services (QoS) in the telecommunications industry. The
Council believes that better information in the market will be
conducive to the healthy development of the industry as well
as protection of consumer interests.This is especially important
as telecommunications complaints top all complaints received

by the Council.
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As the first initiative, the Council participated in a working
group organised by the OFTA to offer views on the scheme
under which QoS information on residential broadband
Internet service would be measured and made available to
consumers for making informed choices. After gathering
valuable inputs from the industry and the Council, in the first
quarter of 2005, the Government announced measures
requiring the top four residential broadband service providers
in terms of number of subscribers to disclose their QoS
information. The disclosure requirements would include
various technical performance indicators, services information

disclosures and services performance indicators.

The Council believes that ensuring service quality through
making and accomplishing of service pledge will enhance
consumer confidence in the operators and in turn bring
financial gains, and this could pose an incentive for the
operators to participate in the monitoring scheme. However,
independent monitoring is important as inaccuracy in
information on the operators' performance affects consumer
interest. The Council will assist the OFTA to take an active
monitoring role, by investigating claims or imposing auditing
requirement when it is in doubt as to the correctness of

information provided about QoS.

To enhance protection of investors, the Council provided
comments on the review of the level and funding of the

Investor Compensation Fund (ICF).

Under the present levy arrangement, the cost of compensation
is paid directly by the investors (the consumers) of the financial
services. The Council held the view that firms conducting
securities business should have responsibility for contributing
to the ICF in case of failures of firms, instead of leaving

compensation to be funded by investors.

Funding source was an area which the Council felt there was
the greatest need for immediate action, and the time was

opportune for review since there was ample reserve built-
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up. The Council strongly urged that the funding issue should BT AR B B N St E A

be taken as a matter of priority by commencing a review of MBI E—B T2 A ST B S I R
the arrangement for financing the ICF to truly reduce the SRR ($R4T EEBATR ) Bttt A SRR

burden on investors.

BEESHEBELRYE MORENAATRIEMS-

The need to change should be considered not only to bring

Etth
REREMBRXAFTRENERF2HEW

Hong Kong in line with overseas practice, but also to
counteract disparities in funding arrangements for
compensation and unequal conditions of competition between A
different types of firms (providing banking and securities

services) within the financial sector in Hong Kong.

Others

The Council's comments on other consultation papers
released by the Government and other bodies can be found

at Appendix 6.
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Forestalling & Mediating Disputes

between Consumers and Businesses

Tabs K R H B A EiE S E R

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Consumer satisfaction is important to the marketplace. The
Council offers a convenient service to consumers in making
enquiries and lodging complaints so as to provide pre-shopping
advice and help mediate disputes as they occur. Our consumer
hotline (Tel no :29292222) and our eight Consumer Advice
Centres (CACs) form an extensive network in offering
convenient services to consumers. Appendix 7 sets out the
locations of the CACs.

Functions of Consumer Advice Centres

» collecting, receiving and disseminating information
concerning goods and services;

* tendering advice on goods and services;

* receiving consumer complaints;

* keep an eye on trade practices within the district; and

* acting as local representatives of the Council.

The Council acts as a mediator and persuades the traders

concerned to help resolve complaints with pursuable grounds.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Re-Engineering Exercise

To improve our complaints handling service and to meet the
increasing complaints received in recent years, we have

- redeployed resources by closing three Consumer Advice

Centres in Eastern Hong Kong, Kwai Hing and Northern
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District and redeployed the staff to the hotline centre and
to handle complaints.
- identified where improvements would be needed in the
complaints handling process and implemented these steps.
- In February 2005, installed a new complaints and enquiry
hotline infrastructure system ( IVRS system ) to ensure

prompt response to incoming consumer calls.

Serving Consumers

CACs & Hotline Centre received:

- 121,426 consumer enquiries (82% by telephone).
- 27,793 complaints (79% of total complaints)

- 9,774 consumer information pamphlets distributed

Enquiry service and hotline were most busy when there were
certain consumer 'crises' issues, ie., reports of unsafe products

and big problems with certain traders in the market.

Mediating Consumer Complaints

Complaints received :

All': 28,693, highest number ever recorded and 8% over the
previous year (2003/2004).

Tourists : 1,602,28% over 2003/04 (1,249). Mainland tourists
1,058, 31% over previous year (804), mostly involved shopping

arranged by tour guides.

To the Council's disappointment, telecommunications services
continued to top the list of consumer complaints with a total
of 8,543 cases, an increase of 23% over the preceding year
They were mainly related to (a) delays in installation for

broadband service, accounting errors and access speed,

No. of Cases

B
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(b) mobile phones charges, (c) quality of mobile phone handsets,
(d) problems of switching between fixed line suppliers, and

(e) unsatisfactory customer services.

Apart from helping to resolve such complaints, Council staff
drew attention of the regulator (OFTA ) and worked closely

with it with a view to curb trade malpractices.

Generally speaking, complaints received in recent years had
become increasingly complicated, many of which involved
contract terms, e.g,, Sales & Purchase Agreement. This and the
substantial increase in case volume had exerted inordinate

pressure on Council staff.

Suspected Spurious Goods 1Z£E (% B & @
0.92%

Suspected Unsafe Product 1Z5E/S R 2
1.54%

Shop Closing Down #5 R &2
2.26%

Free Gifts/Discounted Goods £ 7

2.59%

Repair / Maintenance {£32 S AHE AR
3.76%

Late / Non-delivery ZEHI2XE
5.73%

Quality of Products & 52 B %
16.06%

Clothing & Apparel 70

Travel Agents 1T+t
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Outcome:
The Council helped resolved 92% of cases with pursuable

grounds.

Nature of complaint Cases:

(a) Cases with pursuable grounds 22,175
(b) Cases where the complaint turned out

to be unsubstantiated or unjustified 2,447
(c) Cases of a general nature where advice

was given 2,870
(d) Cases where the trader ceased business while

the complaint was being processed 1,201

Total number of complaints: 28,693

Results of mediation efforts in the pursuable cases (22,175):

(@) cases resolved 92%
- redress obtained/complaints satisfactorily
resolved 80%

- satisfactory and acceptable explanations

provided by traders concerned 12%
(b) traders refused to co-operate 8%
Total: 100%

If traders refused to co-operate in resolving justifiable complaint
cases, consumers may seek redress at the Small Claims Tribunal

and the Council will tender advice where appropriate.

Co-operation with Shenzhen Consumer
Association

Throughout the years, Shenzhen Consumer Association has
been rendering assistance in collecting and sending the articles
involved in complaints cases and we have been most grateful
for their assistance. During the reporting years, our two Council
had stepped up co-operation through: (1) distribution of
consumer information leaflets to Mainland tourists; (2) handling
of complaints against shops in ChungYing Street at the border;
and (3) our training of their staff and exchange of consumer

protection information.
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Fostering Competition And

A Fair Marketplace

7 e T2

Y HRHIRAFRE

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Fair competition is the means by which society can be assured
that firms in the marketplace become efficient and offer a

greater choice of products to consumers at lower prices.

As a consumer advocate, the Council has therefore a role to
play in ensuring that fair competition in the marketplace brings
desired effects to economic efficiency, and thereby consumer
welfare, through examining issues about anti-competitive
behaviours, and providing advice and comments on
competition issues. The Council's Chief Executive is member
of the Competition Policy Advisory Group chaired by the
Financial Secretary which is "a high-level and dedicated forum
to review competition-related issues which have substantial
policy or systemic implications, and examine the extent to
which more competition should be introduced in the public

and private sectors".

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Bundling of Telecommunications Service
Charges with Building Management Fees
The Council received complaints in relation to four property
development projects regarding management companies bundling
telecommunications service charges with building management
fees in the relevant residential estates. Such bundling arrangement

effectively predetermines on behalf of individual home buyers
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the collective need for the use of a telecom service on the
terms and conditions of one particular service provider. All
tenants, users or non-users, are irrevocably bound to pay for
the service. Not to mention the fact that some tenants may

be under contract to another telecom service provider.

The Council's survey of 64 sales brochures on property
developments, between January 2002 and August 2004,
revealed that at least eight of the developments had not
disclosed the existence of the bundled management fees for

the information of prospective home buyers.

Several issues arose from the bundling of telecommunications

service charges with management fees:

* Whether consumers were aware of the bundling
arrangement,

* Implications of bundling on consumer welfare, such as the
costs, fairness, quality of services and binding contract; and

* Safeguarding building owners' right in the selection of

service contractors.

The Council examined the above issues and put forward the
following recommendations in its report entitled "Report on
the Bundling of Telecommunications Service Charges with
Building Management Fees", released in September 2004, to
advocate that competitive choices be made available to

consumers.

Key recommendations included:

* Defining "essential facilities and services" that should be
provided by developers and paid for through management
fees;

* Ensuring consumer choice and fair access to
telecommunications and other services;

* Ensuring transparent and responsible practice of property
developers and property managers; and

* Maximising consumer protection by ensuring that fair

competition could take place in residential buildings.
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The Council was invited to present its views to the Office of
the Telecommunications Authority (OFTA) regarding the
application by PCCW-HKT Telephone Limited for a declaration
of non-dominance in the market for residential direct exchange
line. The Council shared the view with the Government that
there was a strong link between competition and higher quality
telecommunications services and that a healthy level of
competition in telecommunications markets would benefit
consumer welfare. However, the policy of shifting from ex-
ante regulation to ex-post regulation should be recognised as
a mechanism that was seeking to achieve some balance in the
competition, while at the same time maintaining some benefits

to consumers.

The Council believed that this approach would be appropriate,
given the current transitional nature of the telecommunications
sector and the need to resolve the competing arguments of
both sides of the sector. The Council also believed it was a

policy which would recognise:

* that the sector needed to be moving towards a level of
maturity, where the benefits to new entrants of regulatory
assistance in the past to develop a market presence need
to be acknowledged by them;

* that some leeway needed to be given to ensure that the
benefits of the liberalised telecommunications sector would
be passed on to users, to as great an extent as possible; and

* that the Telecommunications Authority (TA) would still
have recourse to direct and immediate regulatory control

to preserve the gains that had already been made.

In relation to the last point above, the Council stressed that if
the Government chose to move towards this form of ex-post
regulation, the Government had to ensure that the regulatory
powers of the TA were unassailable and that the TA would be
in a position to quickly and effectively take action, should he
form the opinion that the pricing of the dominant carrier was

anti-competitive or otherwise damaging consumer welfare.
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The Council understands that the introduction of the IP Telephony
have a significant impact on the competition in the fixed line
telecommunications services market. Consumer choices will guide
network operators and service providers to adopt the most
suitable technologies. Fair competition will ensure that the market
has the most efficient method of service delivery so that the
market should be left to manage the shape and the pace of
transition of the operating environment as it adopts the IP
Telephony. However, the Council thinks that it is essential to
have clear and unambiguous regulatory rules in order to avoid
causing confusions to consumers and operators when IP-based

technology telephone services are being adopted in the market.

As local IP Telephony services would be indistinguishable from
the conventional telephone service from the user perspective,
it could be a concern if a user of an IP Telephony service
provider is not able to port the number to another preferred
IP Telephony service provider or to any FTNS operators. In
this regard, the Council supported that all providers of IP
Telephony services for local telephone services should facilitate

number portability with FTNS operators.

In order to protect the interest of consumers and to avoid
confusion, the Council urged that all IP Telephony services
intended to be substitutes for the conventional public telephone
should be obliged to provide access to emergency services in
Hong Kong. And for certain groups of the community (for
example, the elderly) relying on the "basic telephone line service"
for critical applications such as "life-lines", the Council found it
necessary to have clear licence provisions that local telephone
services provided for customers who would be relying on the
telephone line services for critical applications had to satisfy

the backup power supply requirement.

The Council responded throughout the year to a number of
consultation papers issued by industry or Government that
raised, amongst other matters, fair competition issues. Details

on the submissions can be found at Appendix 6 of this report.
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Ensuring Product Quality & Safety
ERERBERRZE

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT EmilEnEEH
The Council conducts tests on consumer products to provide AEETERIR 2B ERMGtRE -t
unbiased comparative test results for consumers to make EHEDR ST BER ML EL EEN S

rational choices, to alert them to product hazards and to

B REDEmAREREERNRE W EH
HERE - MAEELHRENEESLHEFD

induce improvements in product quality and safety. Major

test items include safety, performance, ease of use, durability

and environmental sustainability for most products. A

Media coverage of testing results is wide, reaching not only AGNERABREEEREZE R YA
consumers in Hong Kong, but the neighbouring regions in BRUEEE B AIRA GRS AT ER
the Mainland, as well as overseas Chinese who have access to % KBNS M E A R E S

Hong Kong's broadcasts and printed news.

ERAL AENERIGRREEEEES
ER MARNRERSREH SRERLERHA
HEFHFESNTOEZEME REE NEHYE
A BB RERNNEERNERER LS.

That is why the Council's product testing reports are well
sought after by consumers while at times received with mixed
feelings by traders, depending on the ratings of their products
in comparison with those of their competitors. This has in
turn become an impetus for traders to improve their product

and service quality.

onqaAlE?
AES M — RGBT B RE(THR

HOW THIS IS DONE HREARERREARAR IWENRSA
There are three different types of tests, firstly, those which S B N B ST » A SR S

are initiated and solely conducted with the Council's own

HAT BRI SR - 2O INE BRI LERATRIF
F AR EEEHEEM T AHERARS (1CRT)
AR SRS ICRTTY31 AR G A3 EEE B AR
WBE AEEAET—2T 2HEETRNBS

resources. Most of these tests are conducted by accredited
and independent laboratories in Hong Kong. In case local
testing facilities do not meet the Council's requirements,

appropriate overseas laboratories will be commissioned.
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Secondly, as member of International Consumer Research
andTesting (ICRT), an association of 35 consumer organisations
from 31 countries worldwide, the Council has benefited from
ICRT's joint tests through which utilisation of resources can
be maximised and experience shared. Without such joint
venture, the Council could not have provided Hong Kong
consumers with test findings of such a wide array of upmarket
and expensive products such as cars, mobile phones and digital
cameras at such frequency. Thirdly, co-operation with selected
overseas consumers associations. It should be noted that all
test samples were sourced from reliable outlets in the market

and tested according to recognised standards.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

In the year under review, 42 product testing reports were
published in CHOICE. Findings of a number of tests indicated
that most products complied with government regulations,
e.g. Electrical Products Safety Regulation, Food Adulteration
(Metallic contamination) Regulations and Consumer Goods
Safety Ordinance. Based on the findings, the Council also made
proposals to the manufacturers, agents, and government
regulatory bodies on areas for improvements. A list of the

tests conducted is at Appendix 8.

HIGHLIGHTS OF TESTS

The Consumer Council conducted a test on 10 models of
dehumidifiers with capacity claimed to range from |4 litres
(L) to 18 L a day. Most of the models based their rating of
dehumidifying capacity on certain favourable room conditions
but the Council believed that such approach did not accurately
reflect the actual operation of the products. A more realistic
measurement of dehumidifying capacity is laid down in the
Association of Home Appliance Manufacturers (AHAM), an
American standard which sets the conditions at 26.7°C and
60% RH. The Council discovered that when tested at AHAM

conditions, the dehumidifying capacities of the samples
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measured fell well short of the claimed capacities (based on
the manufacturers' favourable conditions) by 40% to 54%.
Even when tested against their own criteria, they were still

4% to 27% below their claimed values.

The energy efficiency of dehumidifiers was also calculated.
At standard test conditions, it was found that | kWh of
electricity could extract 1.0l L to 1.49 L of moisture - a
difference of 32% in energy consumption among the samples.
For the overall rating, energy efficiency was given the greatest
weight. This helped to alter the purchase decisions of

consumers to favour the more energy-efficient models.

The Council detected in nine sardines in tomato sauce and
eight tunas in oil canned fish samples a heavy metal arsenic in
excess of the Mainland standard for canned food. But the

levels were well below the Hong Kong statutory limit.

Arsenic may exist in organic and inorganic arsenic forms. The
latter is regarded as more toxic than the former. However,
the report advised that consumers needed not worry unduly,
as in their normal consumption of canned fish products, it
would be unlikely to take in inorganic arsenic at a level over
the Provisional Tolerable Weekly Intake recommended by the
Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives.

Nevertheless, consumers were advised to follow a balanced
diet to avoid the risk of taking in an excessive amount of
inorganic arsenic through consuming canned fish regularly over
a prolonged period of time. Besides the finding on arsenic,
four samples of canned tuna were detected also with mercury
but the amount was too little to cause health concern. The
test could not find any excessive undesirable materials in other
samples comprising fried dace with salted black beans,
luncheon meat, ham, meat cubes and chicken soup, vegetable

soup and oxtail soup.
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The Food and Environmental Hygiene Department was duly

notified by the Council of the test findings.

Vegetarian Food

The Council conducted two tests on vegetarian food.

In the first test, 23 samples of typical vegetable dishes (called
vegetarian Lo-mei) were tested for their preservatives
contents. All samples were found to contain one to three
kinds of colouring matters permitted for use under the
Colouring Matter in Food Regulations. 17 of the samples
were detected with benzoic acid and three of them also
contained sorbic acid. The amount of preservatives found in
the test samples was small and was believed to pose no harm

to consumers in normal consumption.

In the second test, |8 samples of prepackaged vegetarian
pseudo-meat products were tested for the presence of animal
DNA which might be of serious concern to some vegetarians.
I4 samples were detected to contain one or two species of
animal DNA tested (chicken, cattle, pig and fish). It was
possible that animal DNA in vegetarian food products had
come from ingredients such as chicken egg, cow milk, meat
flavours, fish paste or gelatin as food binder, and not necessarily
from animal meat. In addition to the detection of animal
DNA, 10 of the prepackaged samples were analysed for the
presence of genetically modified soy ingredient and
preservatives. The Council has notified the Food and

Environmental Hygiene Department of the test findings.

Household Products

Quilts

In the wake of news reports of unhygienic contaminated filling
materials in quilts, the Council tested 25 samples of double
quilts comprising ten synthetic quilts, six pure silk quilts and
nine down quilts. Their composition of filling materials, visual
cleanliness, thermal resistance and washing performance were
evaluated and compared. In addition, the quilts were subjected
to a smouldering cigarette test to assess the risk of fire caused

by smoking in bed.
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One silk sample was found to be not in compliance with the
requirements of the smouldering cigarette test. The Council
notified the Customs and Excise Department of this finding

to protect consumers.

According to the European standard adopted in the test, down
quilts samples labelled with down content of 50% to 90%
were found to fall short of 25% to 37% in terms of the actual

down content.

Some of the traders raised concern after the publication of
the test report through media that the discrepancy in down
content was merely due to the use of different standards. It
was found that the traders concerned were not keeping up
with the latest version of standards they claimed to have

adopted.

Despite reassurances that Hong Kong enjoys a world class
water supply, consumers who are concerned over its purity
still opt to buy and install domestic water filters to the taps.
In yet another test report, the Council focused on eight models
of countertop water filtters with bigger filtration capacity and
price range. Their performance in the removal of
contaminants, cartridge life and capability of the different
filtering materials that came with the waterfilter were tested.
All samples were able to effectively remove the contaminants
as claimed. The cartridge life of the samples were found to
range on average from over 7,636 litres (L) to over 8,000 L.
Consumers were advised that if the target contaminants were
chlorine, some organic materials, odour or colour, water filters
with cartridge mainly composed of activated carbon might

be more suitable.

The Council conducted a test on the content of lead acetate
and silver nitrate in eight samples of progressive hair dyes
products, and found variances in their safety. Six samples

were found to contain lead acetate ranging from 0.47% to
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2.5%. Although beyond the control of the Pharmacy and
Poisons Ordinance, three among them had lead levels in excess
of the requirements for hair dying product for the Mainland,
the European Community, the USA and/or Canada. On the
other hand, the two samples without lead content were found
to use silver nitrate as dying agent, with content of 1.3% and
|.4% respectively, which was not in compliance with
requirement established by Health Canada. The report urged
consumers using hair dyes with silver nitrate to take great
caution to avoid any contact with the eyes, as damage of
cornea could resutt. The Government was also urged to revise
the level of use of silver nitrate in hair dying products with
reference to the standards set by the European Community,
the Mainland and the US. The findings relating to samples
without proper labelling were forwarded to the Customs and

Excise Department for follow up action.

During the year under review, the Council also stepped up
its collaborations with ICRT to conduct international

comparative tests, including those on:

a. audio-visual and optical products - binoculars, compact
cameras, digital camcorders, digital cameras, headphones,
hi-fi loudspeakers, MP3 recorders, video projectors;

b. computer and telecommunications products - mobile
phone handsets, cordless phones, colour inkjet printers,
multi-purpose printers, personal digital assistants (PDA),
PDA phones; and

c. automobile and related products - car crash safety, child

car seats.

Test reports of digital products were very popular among
CHOICE readers.

The Council in association with counterparts in Europe
conducted a test of 12 models (5 digital and 7 intelligent type)
of bathroom scales. The test report noted that all intelligent

scales offered the possibility of measuring the body fat
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percentage. However, the report pointed out that there was
the opinion that the intelligent scales could not be relied on
to perform a good measurement because they only measured
from foot to foot, resulting in possible differences as the scales
measure more the body fat of the legs rather than the
complete body. Moreover, the accuracy would be affected
by the environment (e.g. humidity) as well as whether the
built-in formula was suitable for the Chinese population.
Overall, the intelligent scales were unlikely to offer consumers
any more useful information than one's body mass index (BMI),
but nevertheless offer some extra motivation to the
consumers to follow an adequate and well-balanced diet or

sports programme.

Clinical Thermometers

The Council cooperated with the French consumer body the
Union Federale des Consommateurs to test the accuracy of
clinical thermometers with reference to the European and
US Standards. The test covered 14 models including 7 ear
thermometers, 3 frontal, 2 electronic, | multi-functional and

| mercury-in-glass thermometers.

Overall, the commonly used electronic and mercury samples
performed well in the laboratory test for accuracy and
response time. Few ear samples could achieve full compliance
with the required standard in laboratory measurements,
though most deviations were very minor. The Council pointed
out that the accuracy of ear and frontal samples might be
affected by the design and the way the thermometers were
used. The Council advised users to grasp the techniques
needed for these types of thermometers to achieve more
accurate temperature readings. Users were also advised to
protect thermometers against excessive impacts which might

affect accuracy.

In-depth Reports on Products
Apart from product tests, the Council also carries out studies
on a wide range of consumer products to provide consumer

information and, in some cases, to verify certain product claims.
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The lists of product study reports and regular columns

published during the year are set out in Appendix 9.

Sodium Content of Snack Food

High dietary intake of salt may increase the risk of high blood
pressure. To assist consumers to understand food labels and
to make a healthier choice, the Council conducted a survey
of a collection of 73 food products comprising 22 crisps, 35
biscuits and |6 breakfast cereals. The survey revealed that
nearly 70% of these food products had a sodium content of a
high level according to the UK Food Standards Agency (FSA).
The FSA has set a reference value guideline stipulating that
any food product with 500 milligram (mg) or more of sodium
per 100 gram (g) is considered to contain a lot of salt. The
Council pointed out that consuming a lot of food products
that contain a lot of salt may easily exceed the nutrient intake
goal recommended by the World Health Organisation, which
is 5 g of salt per day (or 2,000 mg of sodium). Consumers
were advised to read nutrition label of food products and
choose those that contain less salt and pay attention to the

amount of food they eat with high salt content.

Series of Articles to Promote the Proper Use of Medication
The Council published a series of articles in association with
the Drug Education Resources Centre of The Society of
Hospital Pharmacists of Hong Kong to heighten consumer

awareness on the proper use of drugs and medication.

For instance, there were articles on medications for anxiety
disorders, sleeping pills, smoking cessation treatments, asthma,
drug abuse, and skin care products. Pharmacists were invited
to explain the pharmacological effects of the ingredients of
drugs and how to avoid the possible side effects that arise if
the drugs are used improperly. Photographs were used to
illustrate the techniques required to use tools, for example

asthma drug inhaler; which help patients to take in medications.
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This series will continue to appear in the coming year
Consumers are advised to refer to the articles on the proper

way to use various drugs and the pitfalls to avoid.

International Exchange

In November 2004, the Council co-organised with the ICRT
a Regional Meeting for international counterparts in the Asian
Pacific region and a Training Workshop for new ICRT members.
This was the first time that such meeting was held in Asia,
forging closer ties among ICRT's project officers on issues

relating to joint testing projects.

The Council pays special attention to the movement of unsafe
products into Hong Kong and will request suppliers to recall
any such products as appropriate. Through communication
with other consumer organisations and foreign authorities,
such as the US Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC),
the Council receives a constant flow of information about

unsafe products found outside Hong Kong.
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Collecting Market

Information On Services

EERBITENEERIIMRE

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Over 87.5% of Hong Kong's economy are from the service
sector and consumers need more information on a wide range
of services. The Council conducts user-experience surveys,
opinion surveys and price surveys to collect such information

on services for the benefit of consumers.

Furthermore, the Council has, for many years, collected on a
regular and systematic basis, the prices of petrol, supermarket
and textbooks, which are necessary goods for consumers in
order to monitor long term trends and identify issues of

concern, if any, arising therefrom.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Finance and Banking

Safe Deposit Box Services

Accidental demolition of safe deposit boxes by a bank in
October 2004 unveiled a problem with exemption of liability
clauses (ELCs) in standard contracts. To address the public
concerns thus aroused, the Council immediately conducted a
survey on the safe deposit box services provided by local
banks in terms of accessibility of information, service terms

and conditions, and price and charges.

Among the 2| sets of safe deposit box service agreements
surveyed, 16 had terms to the effect that the bank should not

be held for any loss or damage of the contents of the boxes.
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Of the remaining five sets, four restricted the upper limit of
compensation at HK$ 1,000 or the amount equal to one year's
rental. The survey also revealed that information about safe
deposit box services was difficult to find on the banks' websites
and were provided upon request at the branches for most
situations, and rentals of boxes varied among different banks

and locations.

The findings on the service terms of conditions were similar
to those by the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (HKMA)
which caused an examination of banking terms at around the
same time. The HKMA considered that such ELCs were
inconsistent with the Code of Banking Practice and requested

banks to review their terms and conditions of banking services.

Tax loan plans from 19 banks were surveyed, which revealed
that the Annualized Percentage Rates (APRs) were at
considerable variance from bank to bank. For example, on
the basis of a repayment period of |12 months, for a loan
amount of $100,000, the APRs varied from 3.20% to 8.16%.
Consumers were advised to compare the APRs and, of course,
to make repayment on time. The interest and/or costs of late

payment could be considerably high.

Moreover, a relatively new innovation was the use of credit
cards to settle personal tax. More and more banks offered
this option to their cardholders. The benefit of this option
was that the cardholders could enjoy interest-free repayment
period and in many cases earned bonus points. The risk,
however, was that if the cardholders failed to keep up with

the repayment on time, credit card interest rates would apply.

Consumers were also advised to pay heed that if there still
existed outstanding balance in their credit card accounts, the
interest-free repayment period would most likely be forfeited

as with other new purchases.
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Online games became popular but the young might not be
aware of the liability to criminal sanction for misdeeds in the
virtual world. The Council initiated a concern group to
spearhead a public awareness campaign on the problem with
online games. Fans of online games were warned that hacking
into a computer system for online game access without the
consent of the other party, stealing virtual weapons, cheating
the other online players or the like, constituted a serious

criminal offence.

The group was joined, in addition to the Consumer Council,
by youth serving organisations such as Breakthrough, the Boys'
and Girls' Clubs Association of Hong Kong and the Hong
Kong Federation of Youth Groups; the Commercial Crime
Bureau of the Police and the Information Technology Services
Department. Apart from publishing a report in CHOICE, a
press conference and a seminar were held. The campaign
was supported by findings of the user-surveys conducted by

the youth serving agencies.

Players were advised to avoid choosing online games that
were vulnerable to theft of virtual weapon/treasure, manage
the online game account with due care, and be careful of
being watched for access into the account when playing in

places such as a cyber café.

Game developers were advised to improve the security
features of the game design and provide a clear warning label

on the package of online game software.

The Council completed a study on package tour operations
by collecting the experiences and opinions from 3,864 travelers
returning from package tours abroad during the Chinese New
Year holidays. The study revealed that 5% of the respondents
experienced tour cancellation or alteration. 0.9% of the
respondents had been asked for additional payments for

various reasons, e.g. tour alteration, airfare increase, change
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of itinerary or transportation. 60% joined optional
programmes arranged by tour operators of which an average
of 40% of the activities were of a potentially hazardous nature
such as skiing, water parachuting, scuba diving and rafting.
| 6% of the respondents resented the compulsory nature of
service charge without due regard to the quality of service of

the tour guides.

Consumers were also dissatisfied with the practice of charging
tips on a day-by-day basis and as a result a purportedly 4-day
tour which departs in the evening and returns in the morning
would attract 4 days' tipping for services rendered for at most
3 full days. The Council recommended that the price of
outbound packaged holiday tours should be inclusive of any

service fees chargeable on the consumers.

The Council conducted a survey on frozen meat retail
practices and the report uncovered widespread irregularity
on the part of frozen meat retailers in the handling of frozen
meat. The survey covered 59 licensed retail shops in seven
districts. Frozen meat, predominantly chicken and pork, was
found displayed openly in boxes, baskets and containers on
portable shelves in front of the stores - without proper
refrigeration. Almost all the frozen meat (99%) sold in such
conditions showed early signs of thawing or being completely
thawed, and some (19%) even had bloody water seeping out.
According to the Food and Environmental Hygiene
Department (FEHD), all frozen commodities should be stored
in refrigerators at all times and sold direct from refrigerators
to customers without being thawed out, plucked or dressed.
Selling frozen meat in exposed conditions will not only affect
the quality of the food but will also in turn pose high risks of
endangering the health of the general public. As such, the
FEHD was urged to step up its surveillance and control of
the offending licensed fresh provision shops - with more

surprise visits conducted by health inspectors.
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Consumers are in want of information on the many new types
of mobile phone services that are available in the market.
The Council published two articles - "I Card 2 Numbers

Service" and "3G Mobile Phone Service".

"I Card 2 Numbers Service" offered advantages to frequent
travellers between Hong Kong and the Mainland. Users would
not need to change SIM cards when traveling between the
two areas and the charges were cheaper than roaming.
However, charges varied according to the different ways of
communications, for example, receiving calls in the Mainland
dialled to the user's Hong Kong or Mainland mobile number,
calling IDD from Hong Kong to the Mainland, or vice versa.
Users should understand thoroughly the charging methods

before subscribing to the service.

"3G Mobile Phone Service" enabled consumers to make video
calls and access a whole array of multimedia service. A price
survey showed that the cheapest plans on offer by the service
providers ranged from $123 to $208 per month. Some might
also charge a $10 monthly tunnel/administration fee. Extra
charge was usually needed for some particular multimedia
contents (such as downloading songs, ringtones, Java games),
as well as for some types of video clips or information (such
as music video, stock quotes). Furthermore, accessing
multimedia service while roaming would entail 3G/GPRS
roaming fees, which could be quite substantial if browsing a

video clip of a few hundred KB.
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Disseminating Consumer

Information

HEREFEE S

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Promoting consumer awareness through the dissemination
of consumer information is crucial to consumer empowerment
and protection. As people become better informed, so will
they be better able to safeguard their interests against
undesirable trade practices and unsafe goods and services, to
exercise rational choices and market power, and to play a
role in sustainable consumption. Towards this goal, the
Consumer Council is engaged in a diverse range of activities
aimed at disseminating consumer information in a constant
effort to enhance both consumer awareness and foster

community support for its work.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Publication of CHOICE

The Council publishes a monthly magazine CHOICE, which
provides a regular outlet of information, advice and viewpoints
on all matters affecting consumer interests. Published in
Chinese, CHOICE reports in a comprehensive format the
results and conclusions, with brandname information, of
comparative product testing, and service assessment through
surveys and in-depth studies. Regular columns of special
interest focusing on topics such as health and nutrition,
consumer complaints, hazardous products, environmental
concerns, safe use of drugs, investor education, and issues of

global consumer concern are also included.
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CHOICE does not accept any commercial advertising. In
addition to copyright protection, Section 20 of the Consumer
Council Ordinance strictly prohibits the exploitation of the
Council's name or its research information for commercial
and promotional purposes. Section 20 is essential for
protecting the independence and impartiality of the Council
in its evaluation of goods and services available to consumers

in the market.

CHOICE has unfailingly attracted immense media interest ever
since its debut appearance in 1976. A press conference is
held to launch the publication of each and every issue of
CHOICE, generating widespread coverage in all sectors of
the media. Active assistance is also provided to meet media
requests particularly from TV and radio programmes for

additional coverage of articles of specific interest.

CHOICE is available to the general public through sales of
subscriptions and retail. During the year 2004, the combined
sales averaged 27,234 copies per issue. The sales were divided
quite evenly between subscriptions and retail outlets, which
include newsstands, supermarkets, convenience stores and
bookshops throughout the territory. The cover price of
CHOICE has remained unchanged for years at $12 per copy
while the regular subscription rates for one year (12 issues)
and two years (24 issues) are currently $110 and $200
respectively. An active marketing programme that included
notably media publicity, poster campaigns, exhibition sales,
mail drops, price discount promotions and free gifts, etc. was
conducted at regular intervals to ensure it reached the widest

audience possible.

CHOICE has maintained its enormous influence as the
authoritative source of research-based consumer information
and guidance to the public. Its reach is far beyond its
magazine readership, through frequent prominent media
coverage both on the day of publication and afterwards that
penetrates all sectors of the community and households

throughout Hong Kong.
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An online version of CHOICE, which was launched at the
start of the year 2004, is operated jointly in collaboration
with a major internet service provider through the website
http://choice.yp.com.hk. The inauguration of CHOICE Online
represents a new milestone in the publication of CHOICE
and dissemination of information to the consumer public. It
allows even easier and more convenient access by consumers,
both locally and overseas, to not only the most current issue
of CHOICE but also an archive of a wealth of topics in the
past issues of CHOICE, with the aid of a powerful search

engine.

To mark its first anniversary, a simplified Chinese version was
launched in January 2005 to serve readers of simplified Chinese
outside Hong Kong. CHOICE Online is available to readers
by annual subscription (12 current issues plus free access to
|0 reports in the archive), and pay-per-view ($5 for | report/

$4 each for 2 reports/$3 each for 3 or more reports).

Media relations are actively fostered by the Council, which is
virtually in daily contact with the mass media on all matters of
consumer interest. Regular press conferences, news releases,
briefings and interviews were arranged for all sectors of the
media, contributing significantly to the dissemination of
consumer information and advice to the public. The role the
media play in this area is much valued by the Council. Its
media relations effort is well recognised. For the ninth
consecutive vear, the Council was voted to receive the top
award by the social service section of the Oriental Daily News
in recognition of efficient and outstanding service in response
to press queries and requests for assistance. Another
newspaper, The Sun, also awarded the Council the honour of
being consistently efficient in response to press enquiries with

comprehensive information.

Besides dissemination through the mass media, the Council's

website also provides a wide range of information for easy
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access by consumers. Information posted includes information
on the Council's structure and services, the Council's research
reports and submissions to the Government and the Legislative
Council, as well as press releases and competition study
reports, consumer complaint forms, CHOICE indexes and
subscription forms, etc. The Council has revamped its website

during this current financial year.

Media reporting of the Council's reports and in particular,
publicity sanction against traders found persistently engaged
in malpractices against consumers, is protected from
defamation action by "qualified privilege" provided it is "fair

and accurate".

Consumer Rights Reporting Awards

The Consumer Rights Reporting Awards has gained increasing
recognition of the news media as a coveted award for
professional excellence. The Awards was the fifth organised
by the Consumer Council in association with the Hong Kong
Journalists' Association (HKJA) since 2000. This year's Awards
attracted a total of 107 entries in the five categories of news
(66), features (25), television (10), radio (3) and press photo
(3) covering a wide diverse range of issues of consumer
interest and concern. A list of the winning entries is at

Appendix | .

An awards-presentation ceremony is scheduled to be held at
a luncheon in June, to be officiated by Prof. Edward CHEN

Kwan-yiu, Chairman of the Hong Kong Press Council.

Top Ten Consumer News

The accidental destruction of bank safe deposit boxes, the
influx of substandard food products from the mainland, multi-
storey building owners jointly held liable for accident
compensation.... these are the topics mostly voted by the
general public in the first of its kind - Top Ten Consumer News
for the Year of the Monkey. It was organised jointly by the
Consumer Council in association with Hong Kong Cable

Television, Radio Television Hong Kong and Hong Kong
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Economic Times, with Fan, Chan and Co. as the Honorary

Auditor.

Members of the public were invited to select and vote for
the top 10 consumer news, out of a total of 20 items, which
in their view were uppermost on the mind of consumers for
the year in Hong Kong. The event drew a total of 2,252
voters who cast their votes on line or by fax or mail during
the period between |4 January and 28 January 2005. The
response gave a good indication of the issues high on the list
of consumer interest and concerns, providing valuable
reference to the Consumer Council in the course of its work
in consumer protection and empower. [t is also of value to
the media in search for consumer issues to report to the
public,and lessons to be learnt by the private sector to improve

public perception and confidence of their service.

Results of the Top Ten Consumer News of the Year of the

Monkey

* Accidental destruction of bank deposit safety boxes
(2,082 votes)

* Influx of substandard food products from the mainland
(1,865 votes)

*  Multi-storey residential building owners jointly held liable
for accident compensation (1,737 votes)

* Rash of incidents at MTR and KCR (1,708 votes)

* Packaged holiday tour insurance in the wake of fatal car
accident in Taiwan (1,686 votes)

»  Upsurge in e-banking scams (1,683 votes)

*  Over 100 fall victims in suspected mass food poisoning of
noodle shop (1,438 votes)

+ Tens of thousands rush for Mahjong free gift (1,304 votes)

* Oil companies accused of keeping prices high (I,104 votes)

» Controversy over separation of live chicken slaughter to

prevent spread of bird flu (1,080 votes)
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World Consumer Rights Day

The World Consumer Rights Day 2005 was celebrated with
a difference this year. The Council used the occasion to issue
a Good Corporate Citizen's Guide in a drive to promote
industry self-regulation, corporate quality and consumer

confidence.

Officiating the launch of the Good Corporate Citizen's Guide
was the Secretary for Economic Development and Labour,
the Hon. Stephen IP Shu-kwan, in a ceremony bearing witness
to a joint show of support from businesses. Describing the
launching of the Guide a milestone in consumer protection,
Mr. IP stressed that it is important for business operators to
adopt good business practices and have a sense of
responsibility to their clients. "Indeed, good business practices,
such as those outlined in the 'Good Corporate Citizens'
Guide', will enhance consumer confidence which would in

turn generate more business," he added.
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Empowering Consumers

through Education

HEED -

InsEE E&ERIE

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

The Council attaches great importance to its consumer
empowerment objective of which consumer education forms
an integral part. Through a systematic programme for various
target groups, participants acquire the necessary skills and know-
how of rational consumption. Their awareness of the rights

and responsibilities of consumers is heightened as a result.

The Council has provided institutional support to other
organisations and educational institutes to enable them to
run their own consumer education programmes. Tailor-made
activities are designed to cater for three major target groups
- namely young people, senior citizens and new immigrants.
For young people, the primary target group, laying a solid
foundation at an early stage, through school education, is
deemed to be of utmost importance to help them become a
rational and responsible consumer. This is also vital for
cultivating the long-term positive changes in the consumer
culture of the society. The latter two target groups are more

vulnerable to trade malpractices and are in need of guidance.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

During the year, 186 educational talks, visits and workshops
were organised for these three target groups. The themes of
these activities included consumer rights and responsibilities,
consumer protection laws, consumer traps, sustainable

consumption, e-commerce/shopping, consumer guides on the
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purchase of dried seafood, electrical appliances, health

foods, etc.

About one-third of these activities were tailored for the senior
citizens through joint efforts with elderly centres and
community workers. A quarterly programme including visits
and talks was also developed for the new immigrants to

familiarise them with local consumer protection measures.

The Award, jointly organised with the Education and Manpower
Bureau for the sixth consecutive year, is the largest territory-
wide project-based learning programme designed for local
secondary schools. Participants were to study a particular aspect
of our local consumer cutture, exploring the consumer attitudes,
values and behaviours in Hong Kong. The Award generated a
fruitful collection of over 2,200 study reports based on first-
hand data collected by students, and in turn, helped enrich the

archives of studies on local consumer culture.

A record high of 558 teams from | 14 secondary schools took

part in this year's Award. A list of the winners is at Appendix |2.

Introductory talks on consumer issues and how to conduct
the study were organised for teachers and students attracting
more than 2,000 participants to such sessions. It was through
these talks and the subsequent active engagement of students
in conducting the study that their understanding of consumer

issues was enhanced and analytical ability strengthened.

42 workshops covering twelve thematic topics were organised
for some 2,500 teachers and students. These workshops aimed
at stimulating creativity, arousing interest on issues such as ethical
consumption and corporate citizenship, as well as exposing

participants to mutti-media applications and research methods.

Three teacher seminars were organised on the themes of

"Enhancing Effectiveness of Project-based Learning","Multi-media
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for Socio-cultural Study Projects" and "Creativity Enhancement

Programs". Over 90 teachers attended the seminars.

An extension activity entitled "Showcase for Multi-media Socio-
cultural Study Projects" was also organised. Fully utilising the
capability of the Council's Resource Centre as a multi-media
exhibition hall, over 30 multi-media socio-cultural study projects
by secondary and university students were shown
simultaneously to give the participants a new experience in
viewing and understanding new media and presentation formats.

Students from 20 schools benefited from the program.

The Youth Development Service Scheme aims to provide an
opportunity for trained youth volunteers to learn more about
consumer issues through involvement in the Council's activities.
These youth leaders take up the tasks of presentations to
community groups, production of educational materials, etc,
independently. During the year, over 20 secondary students
and university undergraduates were involved in the Scheme,

with new recruits joining each year.

Government's recent curricular reforms responded to the
Council's call for incorporating consumer education in the
wider school curricular. To meet the increasing demand, the
Education & Manpower Bureau commissioned the Council
to design and host a web-based training course on consumer
education for teachers. Participants would learn about the
concepts, knowledge and skills pertaining to core issues in
consumer education. The course was the first of its kind in

Hong Kong and aimed to train 200 teachers in two years.

The course contents were structured into three sections, namely
"Educating a Rational Consumer" which introduced values,
knowledge, skills as well as the rights and responsibilities of
rational consumption; "Roles of Different Sectors in Consumer
Protection” which discussed the roles and responsibilities of

the Government, the Council and the business sector in

Consumer Council Annual Report 2004-2005 HEEZE S

AERBR—BLR PEEBHEESFRE
R INEEEE REMRA AN EREREER
RO R RES D =HXERRRER =1
LERHPELE MRBERFNZRELEERE
BIEM RBINESRETVBRBE KRR TR
RIEEREFT L KENERTRKEBNKE -5

HFE+HERENHEINE RS 8-

IEEEIRE S, BEMEEEEEEE 8
BRBEIERSNB B R IRHREEES
B TENRS- SR T FRE2HEEHERE
Mt RBEES RIFEBBEMRF-RNFLER
TAIFREA NMRBA B ING B FFN NG EH
BEIA-

BTN Y REGNER EOFNRERE
S EEEREMARERE B DHEER
B I HRENEIFRINA N BRI - A ERER
BRI R EFEAG R IR E HEEREHMA
FIFIRER R BEDREA T BT OHEER
B HBEHIBE S BT R AR B HE R X
i BIRREMFEAIF2008E /-

REANBRDR=(EE 2% T EEREHE
BE - NMEEBENEEEERENEEEE A

BB OHBEERANEE; " ARRITEEE
RENBE - BB BRS - BRIDEEER
BAENEENAR; EBEEERENRE -
MAEEEE RERBNRIEE R NETS
BRIBHARR S M EERF BEM EE ERSUE

zEl 45



protecting consumers; and "Enhancing the Development of
Consumer Protection” which introduced trends in global actions
related to consumer protection and explored future directions
in improving market environment, promoting corporate social

responsibilities and enhancing consumer awareness.

This 30-hour course provided a basic framework in
understanding consumer education. It also offered access to
a database of relevant information including reading materials,
web-sites, case studies and teaching resources. Seminars were
also organised for participants to facilitate in-depth
understanding and discussions on areas such as legal concepts,
market environment and competition as well as personal

finance management.

The first course started in December 2003. Up to March 2005,
three batches of 144 teachers completed training successfully.
Upon request of the Education & Manpower Bureau, three more
batches of teachers were enrolled in a larger class of 90 from

April 2005 till February 2006, to cater for the great demand.

The interactive drama game developed with support of the
Quality Education Fund was also useful resources for teachers.
Other educational resources included two teaching kits on
labelling and advertising, a consumer education resource kit
for new immigrants and CD-ROMs containing winning projects
of the previous five rounds of "Consumer Culture Study
Award". These were in great demand by schools and

community organisations.

Located in Tsim Sha Tsui, the Council's Resource Centre was
opened to service in October 2001, Facilities include a
Consumer Advice Centre, an exhibition-cum-lecture hall
equipped with audio-visual devices, and a resource library.
Multimedia computers were installed giving visitors' access to
the Council's web site and educational resources. During
the year, the Resource Centre attracted 1,608 visitors from

over a hundred educational institutes and organisations.
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Improving Legal Protection

s AR ERRE

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Consumers look to the law to protect their fundamental rights.
The Council keeps abreast of any development of the law
that may affect consumer welfare. Council representatives
serving on various committees and working groups regarding
law reform contribute to discussions from the consumers'

perspective.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Review of Certain Provisions of the Copyright
Ordinance

On Government's Consultation Paper on Review of Certain
Provisions of the Copyright Ordinance, the Council expressed
its strong view against imposing any criminal liability on end-
users of any copyright work. The Council was of the view
that Hong Kong appeared to have adopted a draconian
approach in its copyright laws, whereas the same protection
was not available to patent and trademark owners. Moreover,
there should not be any restriction to parallel imports, whether
in terms of any liabilities of consumer of parallel imports or

business parallel importers.

The specific views of the Council included the followings: The
Council proposed that Hong Kong should continue with the
existing exhaustive approach to copyright exemption and
should adopt a quantitative test for purpose of fair dealing of

research or private study. Innocent employees, be they general
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employees or those in managerial position, needed to be
protected and be given a specific defence if they were found
in possession of infringing copies provided by their employers
for use in course of employment. Onus of proof should be
produced by prosecution. The Council also objected to the
introduction of an offence for failure to keep records of licence
for seven years. Neither did the Council support the

introduction of rental rights for copyright owners of films.

Review of Practice and Procedure of the Small
Claims Tribunal

The Council was invited by the Chief Magistrate to give views
on the review of Practice and Procedure of the Small Claims
Tribunal.

While the Council appreciated the good intention and efforts
of the Tribunal staff in helping litigants to reach settlement
agreements before trial, the Council pointed out that at times
the Tribunal staff might be over zealous in doing so. The Council
suggested the Tribunal to consider adopting a modified
procedure in convening settlement conference by the Tribunal
Adjudicator: In the modified procedure, the Adjudicator might
formally mediate the disputes but if no settlement could be
reached, the Adjudicator might immediately proceed to
manage the trial procedure e.g. making order for exchange of
documents. Moreover, the Council noted that many claimants
needed to apply for leave from work to attend Tribunal
hearings and suggested the Tribunal to devise a mechanism to
reduce the number of requisite personal attendances by
litigants. The Council also suggested that the written judgment

of the Tribunal be posted online for public access.

Privity of Contract

The Law Reform Commission's Privity of Contract Sub-
Committee proposed reform on the privity of contract
doctrine. Under this common law rule, a person cannot
acquire and enforce rights under a contract to which he is
not a party, even in the case where the contract was entered
into with the very object of benefiting him. In its consultation

paper, the Sub-committee of the Commission made a number
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of recommendations to be provided in a statute it proposed
so that a third party to a contract might under certain
circumstances enforced the contract that was intended to
benefit him. The Council expressed its support of the Sub-
committee's efforts in rectifying the injustice and inconvenience
brought by the privity doctrine while indicating its reservation
on the practical effect of the proposed legislation in improving
the position of consumer third party. The Council was of the
view that relaxation of the recommended test of enforceability
specifically for consumer third party would give valid remedy
for the injustice and inconvenience caused by the privity

doctrine in consumer transactions.

Proposed Amendments to the Carriage by Air
Ordinance to Apply the Montreal Convention

The Government sought views from the Council on the
statutory amendments for applying the Montreal Convention,
an international legal instrument updating air carriers' liability
and other consumer protection arrangements. While
expressing its support for the amendments, the Council raised
concerns over the threshold time limit entitling the passenger
to exercise his rights against the carrier arising from the
contract of carriage for the loss of checked baggage, the time
to have unused tickets refunded, and the omission from the
proposed amended Ordinance of Article 50 of the Convention
which requires carriers to maintain adequate insurance

covering their liability.

Bankruptcy (Amendment) Bill 2004

The Council pledged its support to the Bill which aimed to
empower the Official Receiver's Office to outsource
bankruptcy cases to private-sector insolvency practitioners
("PIP") in specified circumstances. The Council was delighted
that the issues it raised previously on the costs of insolvency,
professional integrity and service quality of the PIP were
addressed in the Bill.
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Promoting Sustainable

Consumption

EETFEAE

WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Consumers as ultimate users can exert influence in the
sustainable consumption and production equation, although

the latter is a much stronger party.

The Council promotes and supports sustainable consumption
through comparative product testing and disseminating the
information to enable informed choice of consumers to help

conserve natural resources and to attain waste reduction.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE
In all product testing and in-depth study projects, the Council

has adopted environmental parameters such as energy
efficiency, product durability and release of harmful substances
such as volatile organic compounds (VOCs) to the
environment. Consumers will therefore be informed about
certain product's impacts on health as well as on the

environment.

All-in-one Printers

The Council tested |13 models of multi-function printers that
performed printing, scanning, photo-copying and / or fax
functions. The samples were found to consume a notable

level of electricity during standby or even switch-off mode.

Due to their design, some of the samples were found not

able to shut off power supply completely thus consuming
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energy continually. Based on the usage conditions of 16 hours
in switch-off mode and 7.5 hours in standby mode each day,
the electricity cost due to such wastage would be between
$14 to $104 per year depending on the printer model. The
report advised consumers to disconnect the power supply
when the printer was not expected to be in use for some

lengthy period of time to save energy.

Survey on the Life of Car Tyres

Following a test on car tyres in the previous year, the Council
conducted a follow-up survey on the life of car tyres and
studied how consumers chose car tyres. The survey provided
information on how to care for and prolong the life of car
tyres and the normal disposal of car tyres. The survey findings
served as useful reference for the focus group study on car
tyres involved in another Council research on Public Opinion

on Environmental Responsibility.

Essential Oil Products and VOCs

Essential oil products have become increasingly popular. The
Council's test alerted consumers to the negative health effect
of volatile organic compounds from emission of essential oil
products, including eye irritation and respiratory symptoms.
The test also revealed the high flammability of some essential

oil products.

The use of essential oil products is generally not recommended
as a means to improve indoor air quality. Consumers were
advised to consider removing the source of foul air and keep

their residence well-ventilated.

Green Research Project in Co-operation with
Government

The Council completed a project to encourage environmental
responsibility. The project consisted of four parts - an opinion
survey, a focus group study, a market research and an eco-

labelling study.

Telephone interviews were conducted to seek respondents'

opinion on pay-for-waste measures concerning major waste
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sources, e.g. plastic bags, food and beverage containers,

batteries, electronic and electrical products and car tyres.

The focus groups explored the attitude of the public towards

acceptability of certain environmental protection measures.

The market research invited local as well as overseas importers
or manufacturers to provide information on a range of product
groups that were available in Hong Kong. The aim of the
research was to evaluate the availability of "Green" products
in Hong Kong and the degree of environmental friendliness

of the products available in the market.

A study on eco-labelling schemes and environmental standards
of major economies was conducted to broaden the

perspectives on product environmental standards.

At the Consumer Council Office, every endeavour has been
made to reduce energy and paper consumption through
minimising copying, reusing paper, electronic transfer of
information, the use of energy efficient and environmentally
friendly office equipment and refraining from the use of

materials which are harmful to the environment.
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Representing the Consumer Voice

and Networking
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WHY THIS IS IMPORTANT

Everyone is a consumer. Our efforts to promote consumer
interests will become more effective when we work closely

with other partners and stakeholders locally and overseas.

WHAT WE HAVE DONE

Locally, the Council maintains close liaison with the
Government through the Economic Development and Labour
Bureau, which oversees consumer protection and competition
policy. Liaison with over 10 other bureaux and 30
Government departments are well established, facilitating the
Council's work in addressing specific consumer issues that fall
within their purview. The Council also attaches great
importance to working with community groups, regulators,

professional bodies and trade associations.

Council’'s Representation on Other Bodies

Representatives of the Council serve on a large number of
public advisory committees and boards of regulatory or
statutory bodies. Through its representation on these bodies,
the Council presented views from the consumer perspective
in the regulation and monitoring of various business sectors,
including financial, legal and telecom services as well as the
tourist and insurance industries. By serving on relevant
committees, the Council expressed consumer concerns and
sought to enhance consumer protection relating to

environmental protection, consumer health and safety, land
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and properties, housing supply, and monetary affairs. The
Council formulated its view with first-hand knowledge of
consumer needs acquired through surveys and direct contacts
with consumers and traders. A full list of outside committees
and statutory bodies with representation by Council Members

or staff is at Appendix |3.

Close Liaison with Counterparts in the Mainland
Close liaison with the Council's counterparts in the Mainland
(over 3,500 consumers associations) is maintained through
exchange of information, referral of complaints and receiving
delegations from consumer associations and related bodies
from different parts of the Mainland. During the year, 275
Mainland officials visited the Council. Two workshops on
complaint handling were organised to share the Council's

experience with Shenzhen Consumer Council.

With tourists from the Mainland topping the list of visitors to
Hong Kong, the Council has taken a proactive role in ensuring
shopping satisfaction of mainland tourists. A Memorandum
of Understanding (MOU) for Co-operation was signed with
Beijing Consumer Association, Shanghai Protection
Commission of Consumers' Rights and Interests and Macau
Consumer Council in December 2004. Another MOU was
signed with the Fujian province in March 2005. The MOUs
facilitate information exchanges and access to redress in
consumer disputes among the regions. Other measures in
boosting Mainland visitors' confidence in the Hong Kong
market included broadcasting of the Council's APl on shopping
in Hong Kong on board of KCRC trains and distribution of
leaflets on general shopping advice and the use of credit cards

in Hong Kong.

Collaboration at Regional and International
Levels

As an active member of the International Consumer Research
&Testing (ICRT), the Council contributed ideas for joint tests
that benefited all members sharing the test results. To forge
closer ties with ICRT, the Council co-organised the ICRT
Regional Meeting and Training Workshop in Hong Kong in
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November 2004, the first time of its kind in Asia. Participants
included representatives of consumer organisations from the
Mainland, Macau, Singapore, Thailand, Korea, Australia and
New Zealand. The Council made use of this very opportunity

to discuss feasible joint tests for the Asia Pacific region.

The Council keeps abreast of the global development of
consumer movement by taking part in international fora on
various consumer issues. Major conferences/seminars with
the Council's participation during the year included the Asian
Conference on the Regulation of Consumer Credit, the
Consumers International's Asia Conference on Traditional and
Complementary Medicine, International Workshop on Spam
organised by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development, and the United Nation Environment
Programme's 8th International High-level Seminar on
Sustainable Consumption. Exchanges with overseas experts
and consumer activists on these occasions enhanced the
Council's foresight in overcoming emerging challenges in the

ever-changing consumer market.

The Council is an elected executive and council member of
the Consumer International, a federation of consumer
organisations comprising over 250 members from |15
countries. Consumers International has two main goals: to
support and strengthen member organisations and the
consumer movement in general and to represent consumer
interests at global and regional levels, e.g. at the Codex
Alimentarius Commission on food standards, Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) on
electronic commerce and International Organisation for
Standardisation (ISO) standards, etc. Council staff also served
on the international expert panel for ISO's technical

committee for mechanical contraceptives.
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AR, Macau SAR
1 1g for Cooperation
cremony
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Officiating at a signing ceremony for a Memorandum of Understanding for Cooperation between Fujian Province,
Hong Kong SAR and Macau SAR are (L to R) Mr. ZHOU Jing-huo, Chairman of Jujian Province Consumers'
Commission, Prof. Andrew CHAN, Council Chairman, and Mr. Alexandre HO, President of Executive Committee
of Macau Consumer Council.

BB EREMRMHAVEEEEBRESFGR ARZIBERENR (HAEL) BREBZEASK
SR BBHERSIRRTCEIE RPIERSARFRITER-

Prof. Edward CHEN, Chairman of Hong Kong Press Council,

presenting the gold award to the winner in the Feature category of
HREERS : A the 5th Consumer Rights Reporting Awards, at a prize-presentation

T’ CONSUMER COUNG P : ceremony and luncheon.

: ' EEREXTZCIRRABEEEAELEEE RS HRER

mEENEERE NFES L RETHRASESE-

pope—

A group photo of adjudicators and
winners in the News category.
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Dr. the Hon Sarah LIAQ, Secretary for Environment, Transport and Works, being briefed by Mrs. Pamela
CHAN, Council Chief Executive, on the exhibition of a winning entry of the 6th Consumer Cultural Study
Award. Also looking on is Legislative Councilor the Hon. Fred LI.

AERBEREBU LD DRBEAN T BRBRESLEINBENBEBE U CERRERER 1558
BRNEBEREERRZE-

A panel discussion on the results of the public voting on
Hong Kong's first-ever Top Ten Consumer News for the
Year of the Monkey during the prize-presentation
ceremony (from L to R) Mr Eric CHAN of Hong Kong
Economic Times, Mr. Donald CHIU of Hong Kong Cable
Television, Mr. Peter SHIU of Radio Television Hong Kong,
and Mrs. Pamela CHAN.

FREEEBENEESR - RETOBENERERE

2 AN A RIEAR (HAZEA) KEAR
RERAEL EREBEEEELL - BBEAHES
A4 RERL L

=4t bl 525

Posing for a group photo with the lucky
winners of the contest to raise public
awareness in consumer news.

REHAGRERE 2 2RENRIE
BAREEERENER.
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In a switch-on lighting ceremony to launch the
Good Corporate Citizen's Guide on this year's
World Consumer Rights Day are (L to R) Dr. LO
Chi-keung, Chairman of Trade Practices
Committee, Mr. Larry KWOK, Council Vice
Chairman, the Hon Stephen IP, Secretary for
Economic Development and Labour, Prof. Andrew
CHAN, Council Chairman, Ms. Miranda CHIU,
Deputy Secretary for Economic Development and
Labour and Mrs. Pamela CHAN.

(RIF M ETARESNEREEERR AR
THEEN (REER) AEHEFTEMTIE
FREESRBE - AGREFEBMELE KB
BRESIREHRRR ASEFERSEHIE-
KEgRES IREIRRESEL I NRERE
Zte

Representatives of some of the trade and professional
organizations pledging support to the Good Corporate
Citizen's Guide after being presented the Guide by the
Hon. Stephen IP.

AELBXERRARREHZRREBIES) ITH
XFFe

Representatives of the Consumer Council and
the beauty industry in a seminar in a concerted
effort to work out a voluntary code of
practice beneficial to consumers.

AEHERTEARBITESS EFHTEY
REBEERANZETA
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Workshop for the Asia-Pacific b '

Hong Kong. 28-30 Noyamber 2004

Tmnaﬁlt 3
- CONSUMER COUNCIL 1}

Chairing a session of the ICRT (International Consumer Research and Testing) Regional Meeting and Workshop for Asia and
Pacific held in Hong Kong are (L to R) Mr Frank VANMAELE of Belgium Consumer's Association, Mrs. Pamela CHAN,
Mr. Guido ADRIAENSSENS of ICRT, Dr. Peter RANKIN of Consumers' Institute of New Zealand.

BOHBEEMT RARARR AR TR AR SRR TR RE AR OSSR EABARNE Lo =K.

e e
_ (CETH wnituas ! = a A anasan ﬂ Mrs.Pamela CHAN addressing a seminar as part

of a youth awareness campaign on crimes related
to online gaming, an issue of growing social
concern.

BRETE AT HER B DB SRR AR
REEFEANEE-

Launching each and every issue of CHOICE at the monthly press conference is Dr. Matthew NG, Chairman of the Publicity
and Community Relations Committee (left), and Prof. CHING Pak-chung, the Committee Vice-Chairman (right), with
Ms. Connie LAU, Council Deputy Chief Executive, at their side.

CEE) BUTESHIMUER A EELMERFNMIETFEREREAE () RAIEFERAPEE (F) thEsSrEE

BB R Rt
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Appendix Bff{

2004-05 Membership of the Consumer Council
HERREEERE

Chairperson /&
Prof. Andrew CHAN Chi-fai, |P FREEHIT » KVt

Vice-Chairperson B /&
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, |P SR ERAT » AF4R L

Members Z5
Prof. K. C. CHAN (up to 31.12.04) BRER3IE (3 31.12.04)
Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, BBS, |P sRIAR 1% » AXFIZ2E - KP4t
Prof. CHING Pak-chung F2A*#%
Mrs. Christine FUNG TAM Pui-ling (from 1.1.05) JE:ZM¥ 4+ (8 1.1.05)
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC k& R AR AM
Mr. Frank LEE King-ting ZX8 R 454
Dr. Jane LEE Ching-yee ZIF 18+
Mr. Brian LI Man-bun Z=E# 54
Mr. Brian LI Tze-leung, |P Z=F B4 » KF#L
Dr. LO Chi-keung, BBS E&REAL » AKHIEE
Ms. Anita MA Wing-tseung & 5k EE A2 EM
Mrs. Josephine MAK CHEN Wen-ning, BBS ZBMFRKRE » AXFAEE
Mr. Charles Peter MOK B T3 ¢5e4
Dr. Matthew NG R E KB4
Dr. Elizabeth SHING Shiu-ching, |P gk/NE& 1+ » KP4+
Mr. Peter SUN Kwok-wah FREIEES 4
Mr. Leo TSANG Wing-sheung &7k B 1EEM
Dr. John WONG Yee-him E LG EE4E
Ms. Marina WONG Yu-pok, |P SR BE & 5TAT » A4+
Mrs. Lily YEW KUIN King-suk Bk Z= 850 A2EAD
Mr. Homer YU Sau-ning REZE 54
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Consumer Councll
Former Chairpersons and Vice-Chairpersons

HERLREg —FEEREMNAER

Year #F{3

04/1974 - 03/1975
tHFENAZETAF=HA

04/1975 - 03/1980
tRFRAENOF=R

04/1980 - 10/1984
NOFMAZEN\HFFH

10/1984 - 10/1988
NOFE+RENNETR

10/1988 - 10/1991
NNETREA—FTH

10/1991 - 10/1997
N—F+RENLFTA

10/1997 - 07/1999
NEETAEANEFLA

Year #F{3

04/1987 - 03/1989
NEFRAENNE=R

04/1989 - 10/1991
JNEMNAZEA—FTH

10/1991 - 10/1993
N—FtREN=ZEFTA

10/1993 - 10/1997
N=F+HAENLFTA

10/1997- 107200
NEEFAEO—F+A

Former Chairpersons F/EF /%

Sir KAN Yuet-keung, CBE, |P
R B L CBE » AL

Dr. LO Kwee-seong, OBE, CBE, JP
FEREREIS 1 OBE » CBE » A4+

Mr. Gallant HO Yiu-tai, JP
BRI » K #T

The Hon. Mrs. Selina CHOW LIANG Shuk-yee, GBS, |P
ARRERES CEFES KFHL

The Hon. Martin LEE Chu-ming, SC, JP
I FES RN APt

Prof. Edward CHEN Kwan-yiu, GBS, JP
BRI S KA BT FEL

Ms. Anna WU Hung-yuk, SBS, JP
AR BEFES L

Former Vice-Chairpersons /B/E5IL/E

Mr TANG Kwai-nang, |P
kLR K4

Prof. Edward CHEN Kwan-yiu, GBS JP
BURIRIR S KM 2 T

Mr. Justein WONG Chun, JP
EiRAEL KL

Ms. Anna WU Hung-yuk, SBS, JP
FALER L REA BT AT HE

Dr. John HO Dit-sang
AREBL
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Membership of Committees,
Working Groups and Advisory Group

INHZE S

Staff & Finance Committee AR Ei#2/)\#H

Chairperson L&
Prof. Andrew CHAN Chi-fai, |P BREIEZHIT » KP4t

Vice-Chairperson FI|F /&
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, |P SF3H BB/ - A4

Members Z5
Prof. K. C. CHAN (up to 31.12.04) BRZR38%3% (231.12.04)
Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, BBS, JP 3R/A B #i5% sl 25 » K4+
Mr. Brian LI Man-bun (from 14.3.05) 2R354 (H14.3.05)
Dr. Matthew NG R E KB 4E
Dr. Elizabeth SHING Shiu-ching, JP (from 14.3.05) B¢/\E 18+ K4+ (FA14.3.05)
Ms. Marina WONG Yu-pok, JP (up to 14.3.05) =ZBERETEN KA (E14.3.05)

Audit Committee (from 8.11.04) FE#%/\E (ZOOM™E+—HB/\HRKII)
Convenor Z£A

Ms. Marina WONG Yu-pok, |P S BE & 5Tl R4t

Members £5
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, |P SRR AT > ARSFAR+
Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, BRS, |P sRIA R %35 - KA 23 - A4+
Prof. K. C. CHAN (up to 31.12.04) BRZR38%3% (F31.12.04)

Co-opted Member #8:#EZ 5
Prof. K. C. CHAN (from I.1.05) BRER38%53% ( Fa1.1.05)

Competition Policy Committee 5 BRI/ \E
Chairperson /&
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, |P SF3HEE/2 A - A4

Vice-Chairperson F|F /&
Ms. Marina WONG Yu-pok, |P S BE & 5Tl R4t

Members 5
Prof. K. C. CHAN (up to 31.12.04) R %3S (E31.12.04)
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Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, BBS, JP 3R/A B #5% sl 25 » K4+
Prof. CHING Pak-chung F2{AA##%

Mr. Frank LEE King-ting 8R4

Mr. Brian LI Man-bun Z=R3H 44

Mr. Brian LI Tze-leung, |P Z=F R4 » KF# T

Mr. Charles Peter MOK B Jy¢44

Mr. Leo TSANG Wing-sheung &7k B2

Co-opted Member 1E:EZS
Prof. K. C. CHAN (from 1.1.05) BRZR38 %45 (F1.1.05)
Mrs. Grace CHOW AR HiZ+

Legal Protection Committee ;:12{RIEEF/\GE

Chairperson L&
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC (Al &R AR EEM

Vice-Chairperson ZF /&
Mr. Frank LEE King-ting 28R4

Members £5
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, |P SF3H BB - A4
Dr. Jane LEE Ching-yee ZIF 18+
Ms. Anita MA Wing-tseung & 5kEE /2 AT
Dr. Elizabeth SHING Shiu-ching, |P B/\& 1B+ K SF 4+
Mr. Leo TSANG Wing-sheung &K % 1ERT
Mrs. Lily YEW KUIN King-suk k2802 6

Co-opted Member #:#Z 5
Mrs. Grace CHOW B L
Ms. Priscilla WONG Pui-sze, |P E mss ARE2EM » AT AR+

Publicity & Community Relations Committee =8 iit[ERHF/ )\

Chairperson L&
Dr. Matthew NG R E KB4

Vice-Chairperson F|F/E
Prof. CHING Pak-chung F2{AAR##%

Members £5
Mrs. Josephine MAK CHEN Wen-ning, BBS ZXRF R KR HEF2E
Mr. Charles Peter MOK BT3¢ 554
Mr. Peter SUN Kwok-wah YREBIZESAE
Dr. John WONG Yee-him ELEREE4E
Mr. Homer YU Sau-ning sREESE4E
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Co-opted Member #:#Z 5
Mrs. Sandra MAK &/ 24+

Research & Testing Committee Fi%5 & 58/ )\

Chairperson L&
Prof. CHING Pak-chung F2AR#%

Vice-Chairperson F|F /&
Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, BBS, JP 3R/A B #i5% sl 25 » K4+

Members £5
Mr. Ambrose HO, SC {5k & R K2R
Dr. Jane LEE Ching-yee ZIF 18+
Dr. LO Chi-keung, BRS E5RE4 KA 2E
Mrs. Josephine MAK CHEN Wen-ning, BRS ZXABKE $IK 2
Dr. Matthew NG R E KB4
Mr. Peter SUN Kwok-wah YRR ZESC4
Dr. John WONG Yee-him E LG58 4E

Co-opted Member #:#Z 5
Mr. Addy LEE 2T #5564

Trade Practices Committee % F 55/ )\

Chairperson /&
Dr. LO Chi-keung, BBS E&ABEL - AKFZEE

Vice-Chairperson F|F /&
Ms. Marina WONG Yu-pok, |P S BE & 5Tl R4t

Members £5
Mrs. Christine FUNG TAM Pui-ling (from 1.1.05) &M% 2%+ (H1.1.05)
Mr. Frank LEE King-ting ZX8 R 454
Mr. Brian LI Man-bun Z=ER 54
Mr. Brian LI Tze-leung, |P Z&=F B4 » KFH# T
Ms. Anita MA Wing-tseung & 5kEE K12 HM
Mr. Charles Peter MOK B 5654
Mrs. Lily YEW KUIN King-suk Bk Z= 8RR 2 EM
Mr. Homer YU Sau-ning REE 44

Co-opted Member 15:EZS
Mr. Daniel C. LAM, BBS, JP M#ELE  AKFI 2 E > KTt
Dr. Corinna SIU Miu-chee BB & E+
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Consumer Complaints Review Committee ;HE&IFRES/\E
By rotation in groups of five Council Members &4 A {irZ&k S TIEE

Advisory Group on Investment Strategy (from 14.3.05)
RERE/ME (ZOORFE=BTMEHAMKIL)
Chairperson L&

Dr. Elizabeth SHING Shiu-ching, |P B/)\& 18+ K4+
Vice-Chairperson F|E /&

Mr:. Brian LI Man-bun ZERR5c4

Members £5
Ms. Marina WONG Yu-pok, |P S BE S 5T Rl » A4+
Ms. Cecilia WOO Lee-wah BBFIZEZ 1+
Dr.YU Wing-tong SRk 81+

* Member of the Management Committee of Consumer Legal Action Fund JHEEFAESEEEZEREE
** Member of the Board of Administrators of Consumer Legal Action Fund ﬁ%%uﬁmgﬁﬂ =8¢ %?5\

Working Group on Trade Liaison {>2H5#&/\i

Chairperson /&
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, |P SRR ERREM > AFAR T

Members £5
Prof. K. C. CHAN (up to 31.12.04) BREREEIF (F£31.12.04)
Mr. Frank LEE King-ting ZX4 R 454
Mr. Brian LI Tze-leung, |P Z&=F B4 » KF#T
Mr. Charles Peter MOK BT3¢ 44
Mr. Homer YU Sau-ning SREEESE4E

Co-opted Member %% 5

Mrs. Sandra MAK ZZ&E/N\ 24+

Working Group on Web-based Services and Computer Network

4k AR K et TEE

Chairperson /&
Mr. Charles Peter MOK B J53¢584

Members Z£5
Prof. CHING Pak-chung F2{AAR##%
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, |P ZRIRERAT X4+
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Consumer Council and Office
HEEEERRINES

Chairman
Prof. Andrew CHAN Chifai
xE
RS EHIR

Vice - Chairman
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong

=S
SRIHEEEEAD
|
Consumer Council and Committees
HBEEZEE HEEE
HEEZZEERE/IEE
Senior Legal Counsel
| Legal Affairs Division |l Ms. Wendy CHAN
EREHRE EEEBHNERETE
fRERZC
Chief Executive I Al rem & Bl Senior Administration Officer
Mrs. CHAN WONG Shui, Pamela Affairs Division || Ms. Vennie LAl
sl FHRA B TR S BT
R L i 2o
Complaints & Advice Principal Complaints & Advice Officer
| Division || Mr. CHAN Wing-kai
SRR IR KR REERIEREE
IR D LIT7ES -‘

Centralised Telephone Hotline Centre &
8 Consumer Advice Cenfres

B0 S \EDHE EEHA D

Principal Research &
Research & Trade Practices Officer
| Trade Practices Division .. Ms. Rosa WONG
MR & F EBH MARBEFLIEBHEREEE
=R L
Deputy Chief Executive | Principal Public Affairs Officer
Ms. Connie AU Public Affairs Division | | Mr. Kenneth SO
fﬁ‘gﬁ; AHEFHE AHEBFDEEEE
BRI Z L BREAESLL
Caramar Bdnedsm Chief Consumer Education Officer
|| Bfvictem - Mr. WONG Koon-shing
51 = HEEYEEIE
HEBEREL FRgA -|

Consumer Council Resource Centre
HEEREGERPL
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CONSUMER COUNCIL
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer
Council Ordinance)

Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2005
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005

CONTENTS PAGE(S)

AUDITORS' REPORT 1

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 2
BALANCE SHEET 3
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 4
CASH FLOW STATEMENT 5
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 6-10
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Deloitte
(ESE)

AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE CONSUMER COUNCIL (the "Council")
(Established in Hong Kong under the Consumer Council Ordinance)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 2 to 10 which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

Respective responsibilities of Council members and auditors

The Council members are required to prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view.
In preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial
statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body in accordance with the agreed terms
of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the Council members in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to
the Council's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which
we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Council's affairs
as at 31 March 2005 and of its surplus and cash flows for the year then ended.

Tl Toenle GO

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

14 November 2005
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CONSUMER COUNCIL
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005
NOTES 2005 2004
HKS$ HKS$S
INCOME 4 70,754,543 69,756,390
LESS:
EXPENDITURE
Auditors' remuneration 68,850 82,000
Consumer education 357,215 329,588
Consumer international membership fees 220,000 230,000
Council member expenses 39,050 50,250
Other administration expenses 1,203,633 1,529,907
International conferences and duty visits 162,585 85,916
Office accommodation and related expenses 2,095,128 2,241,418
Office equipment and maintenance 287,767 1,665,732
Production and marketing cost of CHOICE 2,099,443 1,924,107
Allowance for bad debts 296,400 -
Publicity and public relations 221,346 201,368
Staff costs 5 54,536,596 57,519,383
Testing and research 1,373,157 3,006,321
Non-Recurrent Projects
Consumer Council Resource Centre 71,500 -
Review of Web based services 2,005,933 187,888
Other projects 342,301 648,838
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 65,380,904 69,702,716
NET SURPLUS BEFORE TRANSFER OF FUND
FOR THE YEAR 5,373,639 53,674
Less: Transfer to designated fund for approved projects (5,296,785) -
NET SURPLUS AFTER TRANSFER OF FUND
FOR THE YEAR 76,854 53,674
2.
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CONSUMER COUNCIL
BALANCE SHEET
AT 31 MARCH 2005
NOTES 2005 2004
HKS HK$
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 6 65,363,769 65,363,769
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 7 - 365,501
Sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments 387,524 378,158
Loans and advances to staff 170,927 222,506
Bank balances and cash 9,691,474 7,179,908
10,249,925 8,146,073
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Subscriptions received in advance 700,518 884,868
Accounts payable and accrued charges 2,508,100 4,268,792
Provision for untaken leave 3,297,943 3,731,953
Deferred income 8 1,924,451 2,815,186
8,431,012 11,700,799
NET CURRENT ASSETS (LIABILITIES) 1,818,913 (3,554,726)
67,182,682 61,809,043
REPRESENTING:
Leasehold property control account 9 65,363,769 65,363,769
Designated fund for approved projects 10 5,296,785 -
General fund (3,477,872) (3,554,726)
67,182,682 61,809,043

The financial statements on pages 2 to 10 were approved and authorised for issue by the members of the
Consumer Council on 14 November 2005 and are signed on its behalf by:

& CHIEF EXECUTIVE
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005

Designated
Leasehold fund for
property approved General
control account  projects fund Total
HKS HKS HKS HKS$
At 1 April 2003 65,363,769 - (3,608,400) 61,755,369
Net surplus for the year = - 53,674 53,674
At 31 March 2004 65,363,769 - (3,554,726) 61,809,043
Net surplus for the year - - 5,373,639 5,373,639
Transfer to designated fund - 5,296,785  (5,296,785) -
At 31 March 2005 65,363,769 5,296,785  (3,477,872) 67,182,682
. o
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CONSUMER COUNCIL
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005
2005 2004
HKS HKS
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net surplus for the year 5,373,639 53,674
Adjustment for:

Interest income (19,804) (44,900)
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 5,353,835 8,774
Decrease (increase) in inventories 365,501 (88,482)
(Increase) decrease in sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments (9,366) 287,318
Decrease in loans and advances to staff 51,579 36,949
Decrease in subscriptions received in advance (184,350) (42,991)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued charges (1,760,692) 1,539,385
Decrease in provision for untaken leave (434,010) -
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 3,382,497 1,740,953
CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITY
Interest received 19,804 44,900
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Government subventions received for Non-Recurrent Projects 1,120,000 430,000
Government subventions utilised for Non-Recurrent Projects (2,077,433) (354,408)
Funds received for other Non-Recurrent Projects 430,000 1,260,000
Funds utilised for other Non-Recurrent Projects (363,302) (482,318)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (890,735) 853,274
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,511,566 2,639,127
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING

OF THE YEAR 7,179,908 4,540,781
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR,

represented by bank balances and cash 9,691,474 7,179,908

-5.
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005

1. ORGANISATION AND ACTIVITIES

The Consumer Council is a body corporate with perpetual succession established under the
Consumer Council Ordinance 1977 (Chapter 216, Laws of Hong Kong) for the purpose of
protecting and promoting the interests of consumers of goods, immovable property and services. It
is funded mainly by Government subventions.

2. POTENTIAL IMPACT ARISING FROM THE RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

In 2004, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued a number of new or
revised Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (herein
collectively referred to as "new HKFRSs") which are effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2005. The Council has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2005.

The Council has commenced considering the potential impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet
in a position to determine whether these new HKFRSs would have a significant impact on how its
results of operations and financial position are prepared and presented. These new HKFRSs may
result in changes in the future as to how the results and financial position are prepared and
presented.

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The principal

accounting policies adopted are as follows:

Income recognition

Recurrent Government subventions are recognised when funds are appropriated by the
Government.

Interest income from bank deposits is accrued on a time proportion basis by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the interest rate applicable.

Sales of "Choice" and "Choice Supplement" are recognised when goods are delivered.
Sales of "Choice" on-line subscription are recognised when services are provided.

Licence fee income for "Choice" on-line is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
lease term.
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Non-Recurrent Projects

Non-Recurrent Government subventions are recognised as income over the periods necessary to
match them with the related costs which they are intended to compensate on a systematic basis.

Property. plant and equipment

The Council has availed itself of the exemption under section 2 of the Statement of Standard
Accounting Practice No. 17 "Property, plant and equipment" issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Accordingly, the Council's leasehold properties are stated at cost
and no depreciation has been provided as the Council intends to maintain the assets in a state of
continuous refurbishment and will seek Government subvention to fund major refurbishments
when required. In addition, the costs of acquiring other property, plant and equipment, including
furniture, equipment, computer hardware and software and motor vehicles, are charged entirely to
the income and expenditure account in the year of acquisition. A nominal sum of HK$1 is
retained on the balance sheet to give recognition to the existence of these assets.

The cost of the Council's leasehold properties includes the purchase consideration, legal fees and
disbursements, interest paid on the down payment and fitting-out and removal costs.

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Council reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Operating leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged as expenses on a straight-line basis over the
term of the relevant leases.

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-
translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising on exchange

are dealt with income and expenditure account.

Inventories

Inventories, representing publications held for sale, are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost method.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall
due.
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CONSUMER COUNCIL
4, INCOME
2005 2004
HKS$ HKS$
Government subventions - recurrent 64,185,000 65,761,000
Interest on bank deposits 19,804 44,900
Licence fee for on-line "Choice" 1,250,000 -
Sales of "Choice" and other publication 2,816,966 2,891,459
Sundry income 63,040 222,305
Income from Non-Recurrent Projects
Government subventions
- Consumer Council Resource Centre 71,500 -
- Review of Web based services 2,005,932 187,888
Other Non-Recurrent Projects 342,301 648,838
70,754,543 69,756,390

5 STAFF COSTS

Staff costs include an amount of HK$5,271,579 (2003: HK$5,303,144) in respect of contributions
to retirement benefits scheme.

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
land and Leasehold
buildings improvements Others Total
HKS$ HKS HKS$ HKS$
COST
At 1 April 2004 and 31 March 2005 62,377,783 2,985,985 1 65,363,769

The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong and are held under long-term lease.

7. INVENTORIES

2005 2004
HKS HKS$
Goods held for re-sale - 365,501

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year is HK$2,099,443 (2004:
HK$1,924,107).

All goods held for re-sale are carried at net realisable value.
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

8. DEFERRED INCOME

Consumer Council Resource Centre
Consumer Education Campaign

New Legislation Publicity Campaign
Parallel Importation Education Program
Review of Web-based services

Other projects

2005
HKS$

149,962
115,078
326,667

21,080
236,180

1,075,484
1,924,451

2004
HKS$

221,462
115,078
326,667
21,080
1,122,112

1,008,787
2,815,186

Deferred income represents the unexpended portion of Government subvention for Non-Recurrent

Projects and funds for other Non-Recurrent Projects.

9. LEASEHOLD PROPERTY CONTROL ACCOUNT

This represents the expenditure related to the acquisition of the Council's leasehold property and
includes the purchase consideration, legal fees and disbursements, interest paid on the down

payment and fitting-out and removal costs.

10.  DESIGNATED FUND FOR APPROVED PROJECTS

The amount represents the funding available to the Council for various activities

approved/contracted by the Council but not yet incurred by the balance sheet date. At the balance

sheet date, the amounts represents:

Consultancy services on various research projects
Online Choice Operation Reserve

Office equipment and maintenance

Testing and research projects

2005
HK$

133,263
1,250,000
1,753,504

2,160,018
5,296,785

2004
HK$
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CONSUMER COUNCIL

11.  OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

rentals.

2005
HKS

392,801
56,280

449,081

At the balance sheet date, the Council had commitments for future minimum lease payments

2004
HKS

179,161
62,300

241,461

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Council for certain of its offices and
Advice Centre premises. Leases are negotiated for an average term of two years at fixed monthly

=10z
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CONSUMER COUNCIL FOR MANAGEMENT PURPOSES ONLY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005

NET INCOME FROM SALES OF "CHOICE" AND OTHER PUBLICATION

2005 2004

HKS$ HKS$
SALES 2,816,966 2,891,459
DIRECT COST
Opening inventories 365,501 277,019
Printing, artwork and promotion cost 1,320,819 1,562,198
Postage 413,123 450,391
Less: Closing inventories - (365,501)

2,099,443 1,924,107

NET INCOME 717,523 967,352
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Consultation Papers Responded to
by the Council (2004 - 2005)

A B[Ol eV

Legislative Council Bills Committee - Electronic Transactions (Amendment) Bill 2003
MESEREEE - QO03FBTRS (B7]) RHIER) (6.4.2004)

Office of the Commissioner of Insurance - Consultation Paper on the "Feasibility of Establishing Policyholders' Protection Funds
in Hong Kong"
RERERER - ERBRULAREFBAREESWATTIHEARXX M (3.5 2004)

Financial Services & the Treasury Bureau - Consultation Paper on Statutory Derivative Action in the Companies (Amendment)
Bill 2003
MREFLEBER - BRI QO03FAT (BR]) RBIFZR) FralEENTA RANIFE M (10.5.2004 )

Legislative Council Panel on Food Safety & Environmental Hygiene - Response to the Administration's Consultation Paper on
Prevention of Avian Influenza: Long Term Direction to Minimise the Risk of Human Infection

MEGRAR2RREFEEHERES - WRBUFERN FERIME BUE AR AR RTT #5534 (25.5.2004)

Subcommittees on Subsidiary Legislation - Food and Drugs (Composition and Labelling) (Amendment) Regulation 2004
LB NEERE S — (O04FRYNEEY) (G MRE) (BR]) RBI) (3.6.2004)

Securities and Futures Commission - Consultation Paper on the Regulatory Framework for Addressing Analyst Conflicts of
Interest

BLENPEEFHEEREES - (FNEESNEN RE RN B EIRBRIEASM) (16.7.2004)

Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Further Consultation on Licensing of Mobile Service on Expiry of Existing Licences
for Second Generation Mobile Services

BNEER - 5L "B _RNRBRBERIRERBRBOBIEEE" 2E—F KA (10.8.2004)

Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Code of Practice on Unsolicited Doorstep Sales and Marketing of Telecommunications
Services at Residential Premises

ENEER - BEEASETETREETI AN LIS MEEBMRE A BN LT RIFEASM (23.9.2004 )
Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Extending the Code of Practice for the Service Contracts for Public Mobile
Radiotelephone Services to Other Public Telecommunications Service Providers

BNEER - ML EBRARRBBRREERESNNESTRIZEMARENRIEHER (12.10.2004)

Offce of the Telecommunications Authority - Proposals to Contain the Problem of Unsolicited Electronic Messages

BANEER - REREW M AT A MBI E TS HENERX M (29.10.2004)

Legislative Council Bills Committee - Undesirable Medical Advertisements (Amendment) (No. 2) Bill 2004
MESEREZEE—(QO04FARBEESE (B5]) (F25%) HREIEZ) (23.11.2004,17.2.2005)

Council for Sustainable Development - Public Consultation on Sustainable Development Strategy

T?%nﬁgé)ﬁﬁ,\ = T}E}nﬁgé%ﬁmﬂ m:.E@ 2711 2004)
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Securities and Futures Commission - Consultation Paper on Proposed Measures to Address Risks arising from Securities Margin
Financing

EENPEFHEREEE - BNEEREBFRISHENRRNEZZE ISR (2.12.2004)

Legislative Council Panel on Information Technology and Broadcasting - Submission on Regulation of Internet Protocol (IP) Telephony

VFEEENNEREEREFEEES - B EERK (NP SERBNAE" IRXMNEBRE (13.12.2004)

Environment, Transport and Works Bureau - Consultation Paper on a Proposed Scheme to Require Mandatory Registration and
Labelling of the Contents of Volatile Organic Compounds in Specified Products
RREHLIHR - ECEMNERTERICEY S EE AT B MRBRERZFTEIRIREAXM (13.12.2004)

Legislative Council Panel on Commerce and Industry - Submission to LegCo Panel on Commerce and Industry on the Proposal
to Require Mandatory Registration and Labelling of the Contents of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC) in Specified Products
VESTHEBEES - e EERNERITER(C NS EERATN ECAEBREERFTERRTIOEE LHEREE
SRR E (1412.2004)

Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Partial Commencement of Section 8(1)(aa) of the Telecommunications Ordinance
and Creation of a Class Licence to Regulate Resale of Telecommunications Services on a Prepaid Basis

BNEEF - 3 BB’ (ENEGN 28 (1) (aa) AR AR ERARE URRY NEEEMRBHAXMN BRINERE
(31.12.2004)

Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Consultation Paper on Providing Quality of Service Information to Consumers of
Public Telecommunications Services

BNEER - B AALBNRBIOHEERRERBERER S HRERNERE (6.1.2005)

Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Consultation Paper on Moving from Ex Ante to Ex Post Regulation of the Tariffs of
PCCW-HKT Company Limited
ENEER - L "HWEABEERATDNNERF LR RHFRAENREL AL BRXNERE (6.1.2005)

Hong Kong Monetary Authority - Banking (Amendment) Bill 2005
SREER - (O0SHFRIT (B3]) BREIFEZ) (7.1.2005)

Commerce, Industry and Technology Bureau - Review of Certain Provisions of the Copyright Ordinance

TERRHEE - BT R EFIAIZE T3 (19.2.2005)

Securities and Futures Commission - Consultation Paper on the Review of the Level and Funding of the Investor Compensation
Fund (ICF)
EENPEEBERERES - AERIREEHEESHIKFREEREHA M (25.2.2005)
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Consumer Advice Centres
B E AP

-~

Hotline Centre ;HEE&REFELR: 2929 2222

Fax EBEFRIE: 2590 6271 Website #8351 http://www.consumer.org.hk E-mail &AL : cc@consumer.orghk
Hong Kong &4[E ¢. Wong Tai Sin Consumer Advice Centre
a. North Point Advice Centre Unit 201, 2/F, Lung Cheung Office Block

22/F K. Wah Centre 138 Lun'g ;heung Road

191 Java Road Wong Tai Sin

North Point H AN HL

LA |AALBEANE 3858 BEAMIMARIE2E201 &

bAEBEHEE o1 SREEREH L2218

b. Central & Western Consumer Advice Centre New Territories #i 5[

G/F, Harbour Building a. Shatin Consumer Advice Centre

38 Pier Road Room 442, 4/F, Shatin Government Offices
Central | Sheung Wo Che Road

7 /Bt B 7R D Shatin

IR — I PR E3 S S B U A T HH T

WHERER IV EBFEE4B442E

Kowloon fL.EE[E b. Tsuen Wan Consumer Advice Centre
a. Shamshuipo Consumer Advice Centre Room 105, I/F, Princess Alexandra Community Centre
G/F, Cheung Sha Wan Government Offices 60 Tai Ho Road
303 Cheung Sha Wan Road Tsuen Wan
R RGBT
EEE303 5 B BETA 21 T RO ECOSR HEBEIMAL B ARFS O 8105 F

¢. Yuen Long Consumer Advice Centre

G/F Yuen Long District Office Building
269 Castle Peak Road

b. Tsimshatsui Consumer Advice Centre

G/F, Consumer Council Resource Centre
3 Ashley Road

Tsimshatsui Yuen Long
KDIEFEFHL TTERAS AT
AP E3E TR LIE260 TR EA B T

HEEZEGERFLMT
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ProductTesting Reports
Rl S

CHILDREN'S PRODUCTS REE M
* Child Car Seats 53&E )5 B FER

ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC GOODS
ERMEFEM

* All-in-one Inkjet Printers% ThAEE S 10 FT ENH
» Bathroom Scales and Body Fat Monitors
BT MRS
* Binoculars ZiziE
+ DECT Cordless Phones DECT Bl = N LR E
+ Dehumidifiers &%
* Digital & Analogue Cordless Phones
IS MEBNEANREER
* Electric Blankets B5208%
* Electric lrons &=}
* Firewall and Anti-virus Software B /AtE K B &S &R
* Hairdryers .13
* Headphones E-f&
* LCD Computer Monitors LCD EBSFRT 2
* Loudspeakers 132283
* Mobile Phone Batteries &) EEE M
* Mobile Phone Handsets (1) REIEFEF#(1)
*+ Mobile Phone Handsets (2) i EETF1#(2)
* Mobile Phone Handsets (3) BN EFEF1#(3)
* Mobile Phone Radiation F#Eg85+
* Multimedia Projectors % E 824545
* Portable Audio/Video Players MP3/MP414
* Printers FTED#

PHOTOGRAPHIC EQUIPMENT iE=22844
+ Digital Camcorders E{5 %1%
* Digital Cameras (1) ShEATH (1)
« Digital Cameras (2) SiBAE# (2)
* Digital Cameras (3) SUiSHE1# (3)
+ Digital Cameras (4) ShEAEH (4)
* Digital Cameras (5) SUiEHE1# (5)
« Digital Cameras (6) EiH1E# (6)

FOOD & HEALTH FOOD PRODUCTS
EMRBERES

+ Canned Food Products 88

* Pre-packaged Vegetarian Food FE%c B8

* Ready-to-serve Vegetarian Food 25 Kbk

* Sodium Content in Snacks, Biscuits and Cereal Products

KRR

EmBHEsE
» Sweeteners in Confectioneries R IES E

PERSONAL PRODUCTS {E A A&

» Clinical Thermometers 8885t

« Counter-top Type Water Filters 7K & BB K2S

» Essential Oil and Fragrant Oil Products & &

* Insulated Cups and Vacuum Flasks RS FARIETE

* Progressive Hair Dyes #2227

* Down/Feather Quilts, Silk Quilts, Synthetic Fibre Quilts
BB ~ AAIBHE R ASEHEAE IR

* Silicone Brassieres and Pads B9 E

OTHERS Efth
* Car Crash Safety /5 EE B ZA),
+ Cigarettes HI&
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Product Study Reports
Emb TR e

FOOD & NUTRITION E AR EE
* Baby Milk Powder (1) S252475%3 (1)

* Baby Milk Powder (2) 25245 (2)

* Carboy Water #85£7K

* Dried Seafood &k

* Foam Food Containers 388 &2

« Food Poisoning & Counterfeit Foodstuffs B¥HPE LERE
Genetically Modified Food ERX & &

Hot and Cold Water Dispensers #R7Ki#
Longans & Lychees SEER K71

* Vegetarian Food RE

HEALTH & BEAUTY REER

* Anti-anxiety & Anti-depression Drugs A E KN 2
* Asthma Medicines B l%ZE

* Breast Enhancing Products Z2R9 72 &

* Cervical Smear 75 SHAR IR 5

+ Date Coding of Cosmetics 1tz {E FAHAR

Essential Oil and Fragrance Oil Product Safety HE %2
Healthy Slimming Series (5) - Calcium Intake for Bone Health
RERES (5) — BERE

Healthy Slimming Series (6) - Exercise

RERES (6) — EFES

Skin Care Tips EE 774

Sleeping Disorders RERZIR

COMPUTER, ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC
GOODS EZf - ERREFEMR

+ Air Conditioners (Split-type) 4 i D855

DVD Video Recorders DVD #%5

« MP3 Players MP3#4

 Online Games #3_- 5 ES

* Walkie-Talkies ¥ &1

Consumer Council Annual Report 2004-2005 JHEZZE S F i

HOUSEHOLD PRODUCTS ZEE A
+ VOC Labelling Scheme VOC & E1Z%

PERSONAL PRODUCTS EAAH &
* Brassieres }8E

OTHERS Hfth

+ Automobile Power Windows SE1BE %
+ Domestic Worker Insurance Schemes S {E{R

REGULAR COLUMNS i

Answering Consumers’ Queries
JHEL G/, BERE

* Barbeque Safety with Aluminium Foil $5#KEEZ 2

* Body Lengthening Machine %1573

* Radiation from Compact Fluorescent Lamps {85 &z 51
* Flowers for the Chinese New Year £F1E

* Hand Sanitisers £F &

Re-use of Plastic Water Bottles 5 FR 85 /K ¥8 B HR
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Surveys and Service Study Reports
552 Mk TR S

User Opinion Surveys / Price Surveys HEBEERLE / BIREE
* Survey on Domestic Helper Insurance Plans #{RIRRIBIRE

* Users Experience Survey on CarTyres B IREmAATS

* Experience Survey on Outbound Travel Agents /UK BRI THEHER S

+ Textbook Price Survey HRIEEIEREE L

Textbook Expenditures for Primary and Secondary Schools EP/J\&EEEEEE%?E

+ Opinion Survey on Broadband Internet Service Providers B8 R B EBYBFTE
Price Survey onTax Loans 19fER1TRIERZEL

* Survey on Hotel Club Memberships 11 BB E S BB ALLH

Price Survey on 3G Mobile Services BEIGIRIEKREERY

+ Opinion Survey on Promotions Offered by Supermarkets 8B E R EEYAR

Other Surveys / In-depth Studies EH{hFAERERFAATE
* Personal Financial Planning Series {& AI281 £ %
- Budgeting INZT8E
- Saving Plans fE&51E]
- Investment Risk &R &
- Children & Money Management 32871
- Retirement Plans R{KFEFDIY
Food Display Temperature at Frozen Food Retailers MRBEZERAR (TE R REH
Security Features of Online Games A3#&#2E 28 5T
llegal Online Games Dealings #8_EFT#M AR RS ATE
Tips for Making IDD Calls through Mobile Phones FF#$T IDDZN{A AL AT 42
* | Card 2 Numbers Mobile Phone Services 1 F25RFTBHE1815%
* Tips on Choosing Brassieres BIE/NER
* Survey on Revised Textbooks BUARERIEGRE
Household Expenditure Survey for 2004/05 2004/05 X F R #istA=
Security of Online Payment #8_E{EA RN 2K
Exemption Clauses in Safe Deposit Box Service Contracts $R4T{RIRFE % BT ET X RS
* Tips on Choosing Dried Seafood #H& & /’i%%uﬁkﬁ,ﬁ\rﬁj
Flowers for Chinese New Year B fESITEAHIBITE
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Consumer Rights Reporting Awards 2005

Award Winners

R R

Category: News #H7!: #i[H
Gold Award £
BREXKERERELE
THREL - RPIN — Bk

Silver Award #R#%
RIS ERtIAETESE
BERE — FEKEAR

Bronze Award #74&
BEEHHEMS SERERR
A= LA — HEKEHR

Merit Awards B2
Stretching the truth
Mr. Raymond MA — SCMP

MK EERE BXOEAD FERRIREE
FER REE —EREW

NI RINEEEC/% BHEMBENEMEL
BOm R BER BT — ARER

KA RH — RN
HshFE — BEAKE R

FNBRERAE
IS — R

FIE54 00 3T BB
SRR — BB R

BEESRS EE5EKR BESRPE
G RRER — E5RW
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20051582448

Category: Features #H73: 455
Gold Award £ 4%
BRNEETHA
BEY —E2E5H®W

Silver Award #R#%
HEGLE HFHAEEASURE
BXZEDT — ERAR

Bronze Award #74&

Banking on debt
Ms. Patsy MOY — SCMP

FEREESERR
T — EBHER

Merit Awards B2
MEME P LFH#ESE
BE=m g — 2588

29 L=l
EZRE — PR

BEERR BIEARRTTR
HBEZ — B



Category: Television #H7!: EiR
Gold Award 242

nz 48
Bl — SEMER

Silver Award #R#E
EEE=1+4
B — SREZFEFRAT

Bronze Award #i4&

REEH
HRE — BEREFERAT

Merit Awards 122
MHE NS4 ETCHSTUEY
Bk — SRERERAT

R EE R —F50h
BB — BREFRRAT

HIRE — BREFFRAF

BHEE
i — BREFERAT

BAED EDEH
RIIE — EMER

Category: Radio #HB|: E &
Gold Award £ 4

BRI H BB

BEE— B8R

Silver Award £R#€

BWAEO ERARER
MER— EBEE

[ Appendix | | * Ffitg+—]
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Winners of the Consumer Culture Study
Award VI (2004-2005)

FNERECEEHmE

Junior Division #)#&#H

::__'7_

A

Award 7815
Winner BE

Second G

Third =58

Distinguished Awards
HEH(EmEE

Merits /8 £ 42

The Best Topic Award

REZERELE

Merits for the
Best Topic Award

BREELE

Topic Z£&H

School 2%

EREER The True Light Middle School of Hong Kong
BBENHE

BRORBLS? ! SKH Bishop Baker Secondary School

RYIRBAIERT | BEAEANHEERE

ATz CNEC Christian College
PEEEERERE

ERREALAVEESYE — 6f@"W" | St Clare's Girls' School
EEPLER

BEGR UHHER Caritas Chai Wan Marden Foundation Secondary School
PRERREEEESE

B Eopm ez CCC KeiTo Secondary School
REREHERERE

ZARMEERL St. Clare's Girls' School

LULEISEE YN E RN =S EEHLER

EPETPET Holy Trinity College
BMg FREXER

SEERY | The True Light Middle School of Hong Kong
BEBEAFE

'PC Game JHIHE 1L Chiu Lut Sau Memorial Secondary School
HEELSHE

RB—Ee Ju Ching Chu Secondary School
KERTKPEE(TTHA)

EBRRBATHEEXE — 6f@"W" | St Clare's Girls' School
BRBER

BRORBLE? ] SKH Bishop Baker Secondary School

BYIREHIERT ! BERERNBEEE

ATz CNEC Christian College
PEERESRERE

T ARLERR St. Clare's Girls' School

MRS B ANRRE AT BE SRR RRBLER
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The Best Presentation
Award
REFREHNLE

Merits for the Best

Presentation Award

BEREHE

ATz CNEC Christian College
PEEESRERE

E=XE Y i HKSYCIA Wong Tai Shan Memorial College
HaNen L RESsImeahE

EREE The True Light Middle School of Hong Kong

Senior Division Sk

BEREATE

Award 1815
Winner &2

Second G3E

Third =%

Distinguished Awards
B EmEE

Merits B 242

The Best Topic Award
EREEEER

Merits for the

Best Topic Award

BREELE

Topic Z5EH

BREREEY

School 25
True Light Girls' College
B ER

WE 2 35 2% Delia Memorial School (Broadway)
A B AL SR (BERE)

HFIAARNR Notre Dame College
B8 ER

Y-t St. Paul's Co-educational College
BRESLHS

BT 3R B St. Mary's Canossian College
BRI E T

MEFT TR Chang Pui Chung Memorial School

(BRI B EIE RN S E

THONG , Tz , K3 Notre Dame College
B HER

=, /88 Concordia Lutheran School - North Point
EEELABRAE

ML Carmel Secondary School
M

ERERE Pok Oi Hospital Chan Kai Memorial College
BE RSP E

RE SKH Chan Young Secondary School
YN

=, /88 Concordia Lutheran School - North Point
BREgitAamRHRSE

ERERE Pok Oi Hospital Chan Kai Memorial College
EE RSP E

TEEH, St. Paul's Co-educational College
BERESLHE

RE SKH Chan Young Secondary School
NG
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The Best Presentation
Award
REREFNE
Merits for the Best

Presentation Award

FIAARANR Notre Dame College
2 HER
E B 5 =% Delia Memorial School (Broadway)
WA BB LA RER (BEE)
(RO St. Mary's Canossian College
ReAMER TR E R
BYEERBER True Light Girls' College
B &R

Special Commend 45 RIS

Award #878
Convenient Browsing
Design
EREHRERET

Simplicity in Presentation

BEREDE

Topic Z£&H
M, FT— 8%

nrE —4%
EREER 1

School 28
Chang Pui Chung Memorial School
(EBIRHE BB RIN IR SRS

Good Hope School

Special Mentions 455I5EF

Award 45
Special Mentions

R EET

Topic ZE#EH

School 2%

EIEHSTeen Buddhist Tai Hung College
FHEARERE

BR=F= Buddhist Tai Hung College
BRI

\rE —% Good Hope School

ZREE—it REBR

2Tk, ", Hang Seng School of Commerce
HAREER

B# 24 A'Magic Bra" Notre Dame College
ERRER

— B Notre Dame College
ERRER

I R A AR Po Leung Kuk Tang Yuk Tien College
REBERHHZ

*RH QualiEd College
PERNHER

BB Daughters of Mary Help of Christians Siu Ming
Catholic Secondary School
REFBEGRBPPE

R STFA Seaward Woo College
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Special Mentions

R R BT

EhARTIET Valtorta College
BEHER

RETRE CCC Rotary Secondary School
REREHERBPE

FHALE CCC Rotary Secondary School
PEAEHSRRTE

“Lunch” of your business

HKMA K'S Lo College
EREHEEXGEEEFTE

IREFERIE? Kwun Tong Government Secondary School
BiEELHRE

Christmasz " KEEKRE | Munsang College
REER

HORZE Helen Liang Memorial Secondary School (Sha Tin)

Special Mentions (Topic) 45 5IEETiERE

RIGRATSTE(D M)

Award #215
Special Mentions (Topic)
BRI EE

Topic ZE#EH

School 2%

AEEHR Caritas Chai Wan Marden Foundation Secondary School
PERESEESTE

f5?Cool I '] Tin Ka Ping Secondary School
VOl

WEFRAVIR Tseung Kwan O Government Secondary School
HEREMHE

TR BRI, WaYing College

Anniversary Award BT S8

=S

Teachers

REER

RIE Kwun Tong Government Secondary School
BEEuHRE

FIEE St. Paul's Co-educational College
PRESLHE

*E= Caritas Tuen Mun Marden Foundation Secondary School
PREEPEEESHE

BREARA Tang King Po College
BEEMEEER

BRER ShaTin Government Secondary School
WHBEILRE

27 Delia Memorial School (Hip Wo)

b A SR A AC R 173 AN)
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A List of Outside Committees Attended by
Council Members and Staff

ALEERBESENIREES

*  Advisory Committee on Travel Agents
IRITREEEARZES

*  Appeal Board Panel (Electricity Ordinance Cap 406)
LFEES (BHRIENEZAE)

»  City University of Hong Kong - Postgraduate Certificate of Laws Academic Board
BERPTHARE — ZREXEERREMEES

+  CLP Power Customer Consultative Group
FRESHEFFMA/NE

*  Competition Policy Advisory Group
BPBREAZES

* Conditional Fees Sub Committee of the Law Reform Commission
TRNERES - AR RKENEEES

*  Department of Health - Expert Committee on Regulation of Health Claims
BEE - AEREBEEXERES

*  Department of Health - Working Group on the Use of Intense Pulsed Light Equipment
BEE — (ERRAUIREEeR) TIE/NE

*  Department of Justice - Costs Committee
REiE - EBEXES

*  Electrical & Mechanical Services Department - Task Force on Energy Efficiency Labelling Schemes
WETRRE — PRMa R THENE

*  Electrical and Mechanical Services Department - Electrical Safety Advisory Committee
KEIEE - ERR2ERAEES

*  Environment, Transport and Works Bureau - Advisory Group on Waste Management Facilities
BRIREGLTHER — BYEEREER/IE

*  Environmental Campaign Committee - Hong Kong Eco-Business Awards Working Group and Judging Panel
BRRREEHEEE — HERARRET(FNEKTENE

*  Environmental Campaign Committee - Publicity Working Group
REREEHEET — EFITIFNME

»  Estate Agents Authority

WEREEER
*  Estate Agents Authority Finance & Strategic Development Committee
WERERER — UBARBEES®

* Estate Agents Authority Disciplinary Committee
WEREBERER - LAEZES

* Estate Agents Authority - Practice & Licensing Committee
MWEREBERER — RXLER

»  Estate Agents Authority —Training Committee
WERERER — BIZ8g
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Hong Kong Accreditation Service - Working Party on Accreditation of Certification Bodies
BERERAE — ResERrtE TN

Hong Kong Accreditation Service - Task Force on Accreditation of Consumer Product Certification Bodies
BB — EmbaEERarE TENE

Hong Kong Advisory Council on AIDS - Committee on Promoting Acceptance of People Living with HIV/AIDS
BHRERR - BNE LR ERERES

Hong Kong Award for Industry - Organising Committee

ERIXRERERESD

Hong Kong Federation of Insurers - Appeals Tribunal

ERERREHRE — LRBHR

Hong Kong Federation of Insurers - Insurance Agents Registration Board
ERERREHE - REBEGLCAMEES

Hong Kong Housing Authority

BEBEERES

Hong Kong Housing Authority - Commercial Properties Committee
EEEERES — BEET/NE

Hong Kong Monetary Authority - Deposit Protection Board

EECREER - FRERZES

Hong Kong Monetary Authority - Deposit-taking Companies Advisory Committee
ERSHEER — BXGFERARGLHARES

Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Ltd.

BERIBESFERAT

Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Ltd. - Audit Committee

BERZBERFARAR — BEHEES

Hong Kong Tourism Board

BBIERER

Hong Kong Tourism Board - Marketing & Business Development Committee
BERRERRR — THERREBRE)VERZES

Hong Kong Tourism Board - Quality Tourism Services Committee

EERERER —TRERERE . EES

Hong Kong Tourism Board - Quality Tourism Services Sub-Committee
BEERERER —TRERERE NEEER

Independent Commission Against Corruption - Citizens Advisory Committee on Community Relations
REAE — HBREATREAZES

Insurance Agents Registration Board

REERBELEES

Insurance Claims Complaints Bureau - Insurance Claims Complaints Panel
RBRRERFR — FARERERFEES

Land Registry - Title Registration Education Committee

XEIMAETEEERES

Law Reform Commission - Privity of Contract Sub-Committee

FRRFEEREE - AN2HBRIVEERES

Law Society of Hong Kong - Mediator Acreditation Committee

EREEME - ARETERES

Legal Aid Services Council - Interest Group on Assignment System of Legal Aid Cases

IFREBRIBR — EREERINIGEES/E
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+  Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data - Working Party on Consumer Credit Data Sharing for Managing
Credit Risk of Residential Mortgages
BABHALREEAE — BFRBEEEN TN

»  Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Numbering Advice Committee
BNEER — EMRBRIGSHEAEZES

*  Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Radio Spectrum Advice Committee
BNEER — EREELLARES

+  Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Telecommunications Standards Advisory Committee
BNEER — EMRELAEZESR

+  Office of the Telecommunications Authority - Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory Committee and its Consumer
Education Working Group
BENEER - SMRBEAPMHEEZAZEG L HEEHE LHFIAE

»  Official Receiver's Office - Services Advisory Committee
WEEEE - REBLHAEZES

»  Official Receiver's Office - Working Party on Consumer Debts and Bankruptcy
WEEEE - HEEEBMNESE LN

*  Quality Public Light Bus Services Steering Committee
BEALNERBEEESERES

*  Quality Taxi Services Steering Committee
BENLTRBEEERES

*  Quality Tourism Services Association
BEIRBRE TS

*  Securities and Futures Commission - Investor Education Advisory Committee
BEIRERBEHS

*  Securities and Futures Commission - Shareholders Group
BHLHEEFRREESE — REEAELARED

+  Steering Committee on Review of Legal Education
BNBBERBBELIGIEERES

*  Telecommunications (Competition Provisions) Appeal Board
BN (BBHEN) LHFEES

* Travel Industry Compensation Fund Management Board
RBEXBEEESERRES

*  University of Hong Kong - Academic Board for the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws
BRRE — FREXEEREBMEES

*  Vocational Training Council - Beauty Care & Hairdressing Training Board
BEilmE — ZAREIIREES

*  Vocational Training Council- Working Group on Trade Testing for the Beauty Care Sector
BEAmRE — =AREERANER T /F/)E

*  Wiaste Disposal Appeal Board Panel
BYRE L REES
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Annual Report of the Consumer

Legal Action Fund

HEERAE SR

The Consumer Council is the Trustee of the Consumer Legal
Action Fund through a Declaration of Trust executed on
30 November 1994.

Purpose

The Fund was established with a Government grant of $10
million. The Fund aims to give easier consumer access to
legal remedies by providing financial support and legal
assistance for the benefit of consumers, particularly, groups
with similar grievances in cases involving significant public
interest and injustice. Through supporting justifiable cases,
the Fund also aims to deter business malpractices and enhance

public awareness of their consumer rights.

Administration

The Consumer Council, as the Trustee, is responsible, through
a Board of Administrators, for the overall administration and
investment of the Fund. The Board of Administrators is in
turn underpinned by a Management Committee. The latten
whose members were appointed by the Economic
Development and Labour Bureay, is responsible for advising
on the eligibility and merits of applications seeking assistance
from the Fund. The membership of the Board of

Administrators and Management Committee is at Annex A,

Operation
It is a long-standing practice of the Consumer Council to help

consumers resolve their complaints vis-a-vis traders

AERHEBEEFLES (UTHEED) NE
REAEER—NANOF+—H=1H KEEE
BEAKIL

=[:p

ESpBAREBTER—TET HEE
BRMEEREDRRE B RERARHMHM
NENEM L BEEREEBNWHEEBEERE
RENEE - BBREEEREAR ESEESLLE
RNENKETF R LBARREMIIFREEERN
TR

THERE
FRESMETEA ABE

ERE FENESERREENER DERE
ARBEHEER MERNEERTANS B2
ZEREMCBERRIS TRET MEZES
HORY B 2 B R AT R -

EREE

AE—RAHNBENHEEFRMMFAIREEEZ
B AEEEEBANERFARRT &
HERENESERATIHE N HEEIRA
EEMESRHAR.
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concerned. The Council may, if it considers appropriate or if
the complainants so request, refer cases of complaints to the
Fund for consideration. Consumers may also apply to the

Fund directly for assistance.

Generally, the Fund, in examining an application for assistance,
will consider whether all other means of resolution have been
exhausted and assess the case against established eligibility
criteria. Such criteria include whether the case involves
significant consumer interest; whether a large group of
consumers have been or will potentially be adversely affected;
whether the case has a reasonable chance of success; whether
the matter concerned can promote the consumer cause and
has deterrent effects on unscrupulous business practices; and

whether it is practicable for the Fund to offer timely assistance.

During the year, CLAF successfully obtained compensation
for the assisted consumers in two cases, one involving a tour
company and the other a property developer. Actions in other
two cases were terminated due to grim prospect of recovery

from the defendant.

During the year under review, the Management Committee
held five meetings and resolved matters by circulation on two
occasions while the Board of Administrators held one meeting

and resolved matters by circulation on five occasions.

Altogether, the Fund considered nine groups of cases of
different categories. The number of aggrieved individuals
involved in each group ranged from one to twenty three. In
one case, the disputed matter affects over one thousand

individuals.

After thorough consideration, the Fund declined four groups
of applications respectively relating to complaints about
cleaning service of camera lens, defects allegedly found in an
electrical device, services of a beauty salon and reduction of
usable space (due to pipe installation) on the flat roofs of

newly completed residential units.
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R DURESEER ERE A LURH MR % BN
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EEMEER IIFREIEE; 3 EMm=ER
BREERRF RREESBITEmMARL-
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The five groups of applicants granted assistance included:

|. Misrepresentation of an Overseas Study Agency

(a) Assistance was granted to a group of seven applications
from parents on grounds of misrepresentations of the
agency. Proceedings were commenced against the agency
and pleadings were exchanged.

(b) Assistance was granted to another aggrieved parent, who
had obtained default judgment against the same agency.
Winding up proceedings were commenced. As such,
further proceedings of the actions by the seven parents
were put on hold pending outcome of the winding up

case.

2. Bundling of Telecommunications Service Charges with
Building Management Fees

Management fees of individual units within a new residential
development were bundled with service charges of broadband
internet access and fixed telephone line. An applicant,
representing the owner, sought the Fund's assistance. The
Fund deliberated on the case on several occasions. Since no
action was taken by the owners' committee to unbundle the
fees and in view of the public interest involved, the Fund was
prepared to grant assistance to the owner by obtaining counsel
opinion on the case. At time of the report, the secretariat
had met with the registered owner and awaited completion

of formality by her before the case can proceed further.

3. Misdescription in Tour Pamphlet

A family of three joined a package tour to Phuket. The tour
pamphlet stated that participants would have one whole day's
free time on the last day of the tour. It turned out that an
early return flight had been arranged so that there was no
free time on that day. Considering the need to deter such
practice of making inaccurate claims in marketing tour
products, the Fund granted assistance to the family. The Small
Claims Tribunal gave judgment in favour of the assisted

consumers and damages were awarded on 8th March 2005.
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4. Delay in Completion of a Residential Development

The developer failed to complete the sale of a new residential
development because of certain disputes between the
developer and the Government concerning the environment,
leading to a delay in issuance of the certificate of compliance.
The applicants, who are the purchasers of the units in the
development, sought assistance from the Fund for claiming
damages arising from the delay in completion.The Fund was
in touch with the developer and this case will be reported at

a later stage.

The Fund continued to work on the following cases brought

forward from the previous reporting period.

|.Time - Share Case

The intended defendant in the time-share case could not pay
the judgment debt of another consumer in an action filed
separately and since ceased operation. Since there was no
prospect of recovery, the Fund had to terminate action and

cease pursuing this case further

2.Alleged Multi-defects in a Newly Built Flat

In regard to the lawsuit against a developer for alleged multi-
defects in a newly built flat, the developer paid the legal costs
incurred by the assisted consumer in addition to a sum of
money in full and final settlement of the assisted consumer's

claim.

3. Representation of the Interiors in Sales Literature

In the case about representation of the interiors in sales
literature, two sets of legal proceedings had been instituted
for the assisted consumers which were later consolidated.
Plaintiffs' expert report was served on the Defendant.

Plaintiff's List of Documents was also filed.
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4. False Representation in Village House

A winding up order was made by another party against the
Defendant in the village house case concerning false
representation. All proceedings were therefore stayed. The
trial set for November 2004 could not be held. The Fund
helped the assisted consumer to file a Proof of Debt - the
only feasible action in the circumstances. The Fund had to
pay the legal fees for the assisted consumer since the assisted

matter was unsuccessful.

5. Loss of Exclusive Use of Adjoining Area

Regarding the case in which the flat owner lost exclusive use
of adjoining area, Amended Defence was filed and followed
by the assisted consumers' Amended Reply. Witness
statements of both parties were filed. Assisted consumers'
expert report was filed. Pre-trial Review was set for
December 2005.

Since its establishment and up until the year under review,
the Fund had considered 67 groups of cases and granted

assistance to 27. A statistical report is at Annex B.

In January 2005, the Council as trustee of the Fund resolved
that as a matter of general policy, the Fund should not accept
any settlement term which would require the assisted matter

to be kept confidential.

The Fund is self-financed with income derived from:

(@) investing the capital sum in fixed deposits;

(b) charging each applicant a fee of $100 for each case within
the jurisdiction of the Small Claims Tribunal and $1,000
for each other court case;

(c) recovering costs from defendants in successful cases;
and

(d) receiving from each successful case a contribution of

| 0% of the benefits gained by the assisted consumer.
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As at 31 March 2005, the Fund had a balance of about
$14.9M. The Fund's Auditors' Report and Financial Statements

for the period under review are at Annex C.

During the year, Mr. Benjamin Yu, Chairman of the
Management Committee, and Members Mr. Vincent Lo,
MrTim Lui and Prof. Japhet Law had retired, to whom CLAF
wishes to express its heartfelt thanks for their staunch support
and invaluable contributions. Mr. Samuel Chan, Ms. Anita Ma,
Ms. Cecilia Woo and DrYu Wing Tong joined the Committee
as of 6 December 2004. Prof. Johannes Chan and Mr. Larry
Kwok were elected Chairman and Vice-Chairman for the

Management Committee respectively.

The Fund would like to express gratitude to Members of the
Board of Administrators and the Management Committee,
and to all those who have rendered assistance for all their

efforts and contributions to the Fund throughout the year.
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[Annex A * K% |

Membership List of the Board of Administrators
of Consumer Legal Action Fund

HEARLETANTEREGERS

Chairperson /&
Prof. Andrew CHAN Chi-fai, |P BREIEHIT » K ¥+

Vice-Chairperson F|F /&
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, |P SFHREERAT » AF4R L

Members 5
Mrs. CHAN WONG Shui, BBS, JP &4+ AL HI B2 A F 4+

Mr. Ambrose HO, SC {liii sk & R KRR
Ms. Marina WONG Yu-pok, |P S BE S 51T » RS4RI

Membership List of the Management
Committee of Consumer Legal Action Fund

BEEFNESEERZEE®ES

Chairperson L&
Mr: Benjamin YU, SC, JP (up to 5.12.04) REBERKEAD AF#L (£5.12.04)
Prof. Johannes CHAN Man-mun, SC (Hon) (from 6.12.04) MR8 » L2 E R KRR (H6.12.04)

Vice-Chairperson ZF /&

Prof. Johannes CHAN Man-mun, SC (Hon) (up to 5.12.04) BRXCER#IT » REE R KRR (F5.12.04)
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, JP (from 1.3.05) SRHkEER AN » A4 (H1.3.05)

Consumer Council Annual Report 2004-2005 JHEZZE 2 F i 13



[Annex A * [f$EH ]

Members £&5
Mr. Samuel CHAN Ka-yan (from 6.12.04) BREZRER AEAN ( H6.12.04)
Mrs. CHAN WONG Shui, BBS, P lREE L+ SAEFAE S AFAT
Prof. The Hon. Anthony CHEUNG Bing-leung, BBS, |P iRI/F B #I%  AEF 25 K Pt
Ms. Alisa KWAN Wan-chee BIREZR 22+
Mr. Larry KWOK Lam-kwong, JP (up to 28.2.05) SRIEERED » AF 4+ (£28.2.05)
Prof. Japhet Sebastian LAW (up to 5.12.04) ZBSE#% (£5.12.04)
Mr. LEUNG Lit-on 2 ZUZ12E0
Mr. Vincent LO Wing-sang, P (up to 5.12.04) ZB254 12T » KF4RE (Z5.12.04)
Mr.Tim LUI Tim-leung, JP (up to 5.12.04) BRBK5THH AF41 (F5.12.04)
Ms. Anita MA Wing-tseung (from 6.12.04) & 5K R2EM ( H6.12.04)
Dr. Elizabeth SHING Shiu-ching, JP Bt/ NE B+ KP4+
Ms. Priscilla WONG Pui-sze, |P e AT A4+
Ms. Cecilia WOO Lee-wah (from 6.12.04) BiFI 22+ (6.1 2.04)
Dr. YU Wing-tong (from 6.12.04) Sk E 18+ (H6.12.04)
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Cases of Consumer Legal Action Fund
HEEFLESEFEAT

The Fund was set up on 30 November 1994.The Fund has altogether considered 67 groups of cases as at 3| March 2005. The
group sizes range from one consumer to thousands of consumers.
HEEN—NNEF+—RA=+HRI-BE_OORF=A=1+—H KEENERLE+tE SBHEEMSEEERE
H—Z#HTARE-

Groups of Cases considered since 30 November 1994 67
B—NARF+—A=1TRAMR KESRENEZRAR

+  Problem solved during application B2 55 1% BhHA R fI B B AR |

+  Under consideration {37E% & 5 0
«  Assistance granted BESE M F BN B2 27
Compensation obtained 13 H5{E s

Liquidation 5 8% |

Judgment obtained EH|R 6°
HEEE{E ATRE 3

Cases not pursued - applicants' withdrawal REEIRZE - [KER 75 AR

Referred to Legal Aid EEZS)EFRIEBIE |

X

Cases not pursued - no recovery prospect KR -

>|.

In process 1EBZIE AR 8¢
° Referred to Council for Policy Consideration B35 H & EEUR R IR 3
J Referred to Council for Mediation/Monitoring B33 6 & & 8 e/ B2 5
s Assistance declined NEEANERFE 3l

a In one group of cases, only partial compensation was obtained. Further action showed no recovery prospect. Case was therefore
not further pursued. In another group of cases, partial compensation was obtained through settlements.
HEh—EERRERSNBE #ERIE—S1TE) EBERENR FIUABRE S—EEREBNBESHBMEE-

b In one group of cases, one case of the group obtained judgment while the rest obtained compensation by settlement.
Ep—dERETE—EERESHIR MENERERRIBBNBRESEE-

¢ In one group of cases, assistance was granted in principle pending applicant's completion of formality.

HEh—AERERA CEH L EFRBEATRERNER-
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CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
(Established in Hong Kong under a Deed of Trust)

Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2005
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Deloitte
=2

AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE TRUSTEE OF CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
(Established in Hong Kong under the Deed of Trust dated 30 November 1994)

We have audited the financial statements on pages 2 to 6 which have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

Respective responsibilities of board of administrators and auditors

The Trust Deed governing the Fund requires the board of administrators to prepare financial
statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing financial statements which give a true
and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied
consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, on those financial
statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body in accordance with the agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the board of administrators in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to
the Fund's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which
we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Fund's affairs as
at 31 March 2005 and of its surplus for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Trust Deed.

Tl el Tl

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

14 November 2005
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CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005

2005 2004

HKS HKS
INCOME
Bank interest income 11,462 25,445
Interest income from investments in other debt securities 412,351 377,285
Application fee from assisted consumers 16,300 100
Contributions from assisted consumers 8,000 2,104
Amortisation of discount on a held-to-maturity debt security 13,831 13,831
Legal fees recovered 145,147 -

607,091 418,765

EXPENDITURE
Auditors' remuneration 7,150 6,800
Bank charges 860 810
Legal fee for assisted consumers 65,836 265,695
Amortisation of premium on a held-to-maturity debt security 11,139 9,282
Sundry expenses 875 6,092

85,860 288,679
NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 521,231 130,086

-2
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CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND

BALANCE SHEET
AT 31 MARCH 2005
NOTES 2005 2004
HKS$ HKS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in securities 4 9,121,811 9,119,119
CURRENT ASSETS
Interest receivable 59,130 59,130
Bank balances 5,768,881 5,249,366
5,828,011 5,308,496
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 7,838 7,938
Accrued expenses 8,182 7,106
16,020 15,044
NET CURRENT ASSETS 5,811,991 5,293,452
14,933,802 14,412,571
CAPITAL AND RESERVE
Capital 1 10,000,000 10,000,000
Accumulated surplus 4,933,802 4,412,571
14,933,802 14,412,571

The financial statements on pages 2 to 6 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Administrators on 14 November 2005 and are signed on its behalf by:

2 o

ADMINISTRATOR ADMINISTRATOR
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CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005
Accumulated
Capital surplus Total
HK$S HKS$ HKS
At 1 April 2003 10,000,000 4,282,485 14,282,485
Net surplus for the year - 130,086 130,086
At 31 March 2004 10,000,000 4,412,571 14,412,571
Net surplus for the year - 521,231 521,231
At 31 March 2005 10,000,000 4,933,802 14,933,802
-4 -
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CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2005

1 OBIJECTIVES AND OPERATION OF THE FUND

The Fund was set up on 30 November 1994 under a Deed of Trust with the Consumer Council as
the trustee for the purpose of offering financial assistance to consumers in seeking legal redress,
remedies and protection. The Government of Hong Kong has granted a sum of HK$10 million as
initial capital to the Fund. The capital should be repayable to the Government upon dissolution.

2. POTENTIAL IMPACT ARISING FROM THE RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS

In 2004, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants issued a number of new or
revised Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (herein
collectively referred to as "new HKFRSs") which are effective for accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2005. The Fund has not early adopted these new HKFRSs in the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2005.

The Fund has commenced considering the potential impact of these new HKFRSs but is not yet in
a position to determine whether these new HKFRSs would have a significant impact on how its
results of operations and financial position are prepared and presented. These new HKFRSs may
result in changes in the future as to how the results and financial position are prepared and
presented.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified for

the revaluation of investments in securities and in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The principal accounting policies adopted are as follows:

Revenue recognition

Bank interest income and interest income from investments in debt securities are recognised on a
time proportion basis by reference to the principal outstanding and the interest rate applicable.

Cost of financial assistance

All costs connected with the provision of financial assistance rendered to consumers are recorded
on an accrual basis and charged against income and expenditure account in the period incurred.
Any costs recoverable from assisted consumers are recorded as income upon receipt.
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CONSUMER LEGAL ACTION FUND

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Fund reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Investments in securities

Investments in securities are recognised on a trade-date basis and are initially measured at cost.

At subsequent reporting dates, debt securities that the Fund has the expressed intention and ability
to hold to maturity (held-to-maturity debt securities) are measured at amortised cost, less any
impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts. The annual amortisation of any
discount or premium on the acquisition of a held-to-maturity security is aggregated with other
investment income receivable over the term of the instrument so that the revenue recognised in
each period represents a constant yield on the investment.

4, INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

2005 2004
HK$ HKS$
Held-to-maturity debt securities, listed 9,121,811 9,119,119
Market value of listed securities 8,771,165 9,317,835
wbie
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